
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Housing Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Tuesday, 7 March 2017 
7.30 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Catford 
SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  John Bardens (02083149976) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017 

 
1 - 6 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

7 - 10 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

4.   Housing and mental health review - draft final report 
 

11 - 34 

5.   Handyperson service update 
 

35 - 54 

6.   PRS offer policy 
To follow 

 

7.   Discretionary licensing scheme 
 

55 - 62 

8.   Annual lettings plan 
 

63 - 86 

9.   Key housing issues 
 

87 - 96 

10.   Select Committee work programme 
 

97 - 120 

11.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Housing Select Committee 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Tuesday, 7 March 2017.   
 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
Thursday, 23 February 2017 
 
  

Councillor Carl Handley (Chair)  

Councillor Peter Bernards (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor John Coughlin  

Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin  

Councillor Maja Hilton  

Councillor Simon Hooks  

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa  

Councillor John Paschoud  

Councillor Joan Reid  

Councillor Jonathan Slater  

Councillor Alan Hall (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Gareth Siddorn (ex-Officio)  

  

   
 



MINUTES OF THE HOUSING SELECT COMMITTEE 

Tuesday 10 January 2017, 7.30pm 

Present: Councillors Carl Handley (Chair), Peter Bernards (Vice Chair), John 

Coughlin, Maja Hilton, Simon Hooks, Liz Johnston-Franklin, Olurotimi Ogunbadewa, 

John Paschoud, Joan Reid, and Jonathan Slater. 

Also present: Rupert Bateson (Senior Business Development Manager, Shelter), 

Emily Bird (Policy Leader, National Housing Federation), Kevin Sheehan (Executive 

Director for Customer Services), Genevieve Macklin (Head of Strategic Housing), 

Jeff Endean (Housing Strategy and Programmes Manager), Michael Westbrook 

(Housing Policy and Partnerships Manager), John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager). 

1. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2016 

Resolved: the Committee agreed the minutes of the last meeting as a true record. 

2. Declarations of interest 

The following non-prejudicial interests were declared: 

 Councillor Slater is a member of the board of Phoenix Community Housing. 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 

There were no responses for this meeting 

4. Housing and mental health – evidence session 

Rupert Bateson (Shelter) and Emily Bird (National Housing Federation) introduced 

themselves and gave evidence to the committee. 

Rupert Bateson (Shelter) spoke. The following key points were noted: 

 Shelter have a lot of experience of helping people in both social housing and the 

private rented sector. They provide floating support, but also specialist housing 

and therefore take a keen interest in what housing-related support and advice 

can best support people with mental health and housing related problems. 

 Shelter have focused much of their housing and mental health work on two 

areas: maintaining tenancies and helping rough sleepers (who are more likely to 

have mental health issues) to secure tenancies for the first time. 

 Shelter are interested in developing closer links between mental and general 

health, and multi-agency responses to people’s needs. Shelter have seen the 

benefits of linking housing advice to healthcare settings, such as GP surgeries 

and community health teams.  

 Shelter new ‘Welcome Home Service’ in Birmingham is an example of good 

multi-agency working. This is a partnership between Shelter and Birmingham 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Mind focused on people who are in hospital either because of a mental health 

problem or who have developed a mental health problem while they’ve been in 

hospital. Specialist staff from both Shelter and Mind are located on site in 

hospitals, with Mind looking at issues like access to counselling and Shelter 

looking at problems with landlords, benefits and rent deposits.  

 Shelter’s work as part of the Manchester Advice Alliance is a good example of 

housing working closely with GPs. The Manchester Advice Alliance includes 

social housing providers, local Citizens Advice Bureaus, local CCGs, and GPs. It 

involves an “advice on prescription approach” – instead of handing out leaflets 

and signposting – where a GP is able to write a prescription for advice based on 

their conversations in the surgery.  

 The individual can then take their advice prescription to advice agencies, giving 

them control, and the advice agencies can take into account the 

recommendations in the prescription. People who have used this service say that 

they value the ability to access independent agencies, that they feel listened to 

and understood, and that this in itself can be beneficial.    

 Shelter run a mortgage debt helpline, which receives contact from a large number 

of people with mental health problems. They can help people deal with mortgage 

providers and set up arrangements like debt plans and payment holidays. Shelter 

have found that most mortgage providers are willing to set up such arrangements 

to avoid the eviction process.  

 Shelter are currently looking at how to make advice more efficient. There’s 

evidence that phone advice can be as effective as face-to-face. Phone advice 

can also provide people with immediate help at crisis stage – although it won’t 

necessarily be appropriate with more complex problems.  

Emily Bird (National Housing Federation) spoke. The following key points were 

made: 

 Housing associations across the country provide a range of effective 

interventions for a range of needs, including mental health needs, to help people 

live more independently and healthily. This includes employment support, 

tenancy sustainment, floating support, and specialist and supported housing.  

 Nationally, organisations are increasingly recognising the importance of linking up 

health and housing more strategically – the NHS England Mental Health 

Taskforce, for example, which encourages local partners to consider how 

housing can affect people’s health.  

 There’s also a national memorandum of understanding on health and housing 

which advocates a more strategic approach to housing and mental health 

working together. The National Housing Federation is supportive of approaches 

that cut through the barriers of different services and look at person’s needs as a 

whole.  

Page 2



 Progress Housing Association in Preston is a good example of housing 

supporting people with mental health needs. Progress were coming into contact 

with increasing numbers of people with mental health needs, so developed a 

number of support services, including financial advice (in partnership local CAB 

and credit union), employment support services (in partnership with local 

employers). 

 It’s pretty early stages for health and housing working together, but Emily cited 

the health and housing memorandum of understanding in Nottingham as a good 

example of this. This agreement is intended to bring all local partners around the 

table and establish a shared understanding of local needs, and shared goals.  

 A kitemark scheme for good landlords, with a specific focus on awareness of 

mental health needs, was to be considered, it could start with larger portfolio 

landlords, which are more likely to be aware of problems and open to ideas. 

 Emily also noted the importance of supported and specialist housing in helping 

people live independently and stay out of acute settings. The National Housing 

Federation is concerned, however, about the potentially devastating scenario for 

supported housing as a result of benefit changes currently being consulted on by 

the government. Emily notes that local authorities will, in the future, likely have a 

big role in continuing to fund these services.   

Resolved: the Committee noted the witnesses’ evidence. 

5. Proposed rent and service charge increases 

Genevieve Macklin (Head of Strategic Housing) introduced the report and the 

Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted: 

 This is the second year of the government’s policy to reduce social rents by 1% 

for four years. For 2017/18, it will mean an average rent reduction of £0.97 and 

will result in a loss of £0.722 of rental income to the Housing Revenue Account. 

 Residents of Lewisham Homes and RB3 have been consulted about the changes 

and there was very little response. 

 This report will also go to Mayor and Cabinet in February as part of budget 

setting process. 

 The number of right to buy sales has remained stable over the last year, at about 

100.  

 The council’s programme to build 500 new council homes aims to have all 500 

homes either completed or started by March 2018. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

6. New build update 

Page 3



Jeff Endean (Housing Strategy and Programmes Manager) introduced the report and 

the Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted: 

 In working towards the council’s programme to build 500 new council homes, 196 

are completed or currently underway, and 330 have been identified that could be 

start by March 2018. The target is to have 500 homes started by March 2018. 

The council will still need to build some homes to sell (around 125) to fund the 

build costs of the 500 new council homes. 

 The 500 new council home target doesn’t currently include new homes through 

the Lewisham Homes Acquisition Programme, the new temporary 

accommodation at PLACE/Ladywell, or any of the estate regeneration schemes 

in the borough. 

 500 is a realistic target. The main obstacle to building more homes is the 

availability of land, particularly easy to develop land. Right to buy is also factor, 

but current market values mean numbers have steadied.  

 A significant number of homes towards the 500 target will be built this year. The 

redevelopment of Catford town centre and Ladywell will provide a substantial 

number of homes in the future. 

 Officers are always looking at the possibility of alternative models of housing 

management – from cooperatives to mutual – but it is a long process. 

 The committee suggested that officers compile and share a register of lessons 

learned from sites that have fallen through so that this knowledge isn’t lost. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the update. 

7. Communal heating systems review update 

Martin O'Brien (Asset Management Planning Manager) introduced the report and the 

Committee made a number of comments. The following key points were noted: 

 The officer provided a short recap of the committee’s review of communal heating 

systems in 2014/15, its scope, and its findings.  

 The review intended to look at how the council can help to ensure the effective 

deployment of communal heating systems in the borough. It identified, among 

other things, problems with over-sized heat sources generating excessive heat, 

problems with billing, and lack of consumer protection. 

 Since the review published its findings there have been a number of 

developments. The Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineers published 

the UK Heat Networks Code of Practice, intended to raise standards in 

communal heating systems. The Heat Trust was launched, offering a free and 

independent customer complaints resolution services. The Government began 

Page 4



consultation on amendments to the Standard Assessment Procedure for building 

energy performance, proposing changes relevant to communal heating systems.   

 In January 2016 the council published the finding of a feasibility study on the 

potential for a heat network connecting SELCHP and Goldsmiths. A potential 

route was identified, but the economic viability of the route was assessed as low. 

 The council is carrying out another feasibility study of a network extending to 

Convoys Wharf and other development sites in the north of borough. The findings 

are expected to be published before April 2017. 

Resolved: the Committee noted the update. 

8. Key housing issues 

Michael Westbrook (Housing Policy and Partnerships Manager) introduced the 

report and the Committee made a number of comments. The following key points 

were noted: 

 Several parts of the Housing and Planning act have either been dropped or 

postponed. “Pay to stay”, for example, will not be going ahead and extending the 

right to buy to housing associations has been pushed back. The introduction of 

fixed-term tenancies is still set to go ahead, but no regulations have been 

published yet. 

 The government announced in the Autumn Statement that letting fees would be 

banned. DCLG will be consulting on the detailed proposals soon. This could save 

private renters in Lewisham a considerable amount of money.  

 The Mayor’s affordable housing programme, Homes for Londoners, has also 

been published. This included £3.15bn funding and aims to achieve 90,000 home 

starts by 2021. 

 There will be a mixture of tenures – including London affordable rent, London 

living rent, London shared ownership. London living rent will be set at one third of 

borough median income. For Lewisham, this will be £34,895 a year. The London 

living rent model is very similar to that used at the Besson Street project in 

Lewisham.  

Resolved: the Committee noted the report. 

Select Committee work programme 

John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) introduced the report. 

 To make the next meeting more manageable, the Scrutiny Manager suggested 

moving the Lewisham Homes and RB3 mid-year reviews to April. 

Resolved: the Committee agreed the work programme with the above changes.    

Page 5



9. Referrals 

There were no referrals at this meeting  

The meeting ended at 21.30pm 

Chair:  

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Date: 

 ---------------------------------------------------- 

 

Page 6



Housing Select Committee 

Title Declarations of Interest Item No. 2 

Contributor Chief Executive  

Class Part 1 (open) 7 March 2017 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct:-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 

 
2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the Council) 

within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in respect of 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards your election 
expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a partner or 

a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a 
beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the Council is 

landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a partner, a body corporate 
in which they are a director, or in the securities of which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and  

 
 (b)  either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or 

 
 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* has a 
beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom they live as 
spouse or civil partner.  

 
(3)  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the following 
interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you were 

appointed or nominated by the Council 
 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable purposes, 
or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy, 
including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to affect 
the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not required to be registered 
in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning the closure of a 
school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
 
(5)  Declaration and impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are present at a 

meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must declare the nature of the 
interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered. 
The declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a 
disclosable pecuniary interest the member must take not part in consideration of the 
matter and withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not seek 
improperly to influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an 
interest which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the meeting at 
the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered, but they 
may stay in the room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless 
paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member of the 
public in possession of the facts would think that their interest is so significant that it 
would be likely to impair the member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the 
member must withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, their, 

family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the local area 
generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of interest and withdrawal 
apply as if it were a registerable interest.   

Page 8



 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal 

judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or intimidation 
where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be registered. 
Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in decisions 
notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter relates to 

your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or 

guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the matter 
relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)   Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Select Committee 

Title Housing and mental health in-depth review – draft final report 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 4 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 March 2017 

 
1. Overview  

As part of the work programme for 2016/7, the Committee agreed to carry out an in-
depth review of housing and mental health. The scope was agreed in July 2016 and 
evidence gathered at meetings in September, October and January 2017. 

The attached draft report presents the written and verbal evidence received by the 
Committee. The executive summary, recommendations and conclusion will be 
inserted once the draft report has been agreed. The final report will be presented to 
Mayor and Cabinet at the earliest opportunity. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is asked to: 

 Agree the draft review report 

 Consider any recommendations the report should make 

 Note that the final report, including the recommendations agreed at this meeting, 
will be presented to Mayor and Cabinet 

3.  Legal implications 

The report will be submitted to Mayor and Cabinet, which holds the decision-making 
powers in respect of this matter. 

4.  Financial implications 

There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. However, the 
financial implications of any specific recommendations will need to be considered in 
due course. 

5.  Equalities implications 

There are no direct equalities implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report. The Council works to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination and harassment, promote equality of opportunity and good relations 
between different groups in the community and to recognise and to take account of 
people’s differences. 

If you have any questions, please contact John Bardens (Scrutiny Manager) 
on 02083149976. 

 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

____________________________________ 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
 
Housing and mental health 
 
March 2017 
____________________________________ 

 
Membership of the Housing Select Committee in 2016/17: 
 
Councillor Carl Handley (Chair)   

Councillor Peter Bernards (Vice-Chair)   

Councillor John Coughlin      

Councillor Liz Johnston-Franklin      

Councillor Maja Hilton       

Councillor Simon Hooks     

Councillor Olurotimi Ogunbadewa      

Councillor John Paschoud      

Councillor Joan Reid      

Councillor Jonathan Slater     

  

Page 13

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=178
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=191
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=142
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=192
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=177
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=141
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=176
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=147
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=170
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=116


2 
 

Housing and mental health 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary .............................................................................................................. 2 

Recommendations ................................................................................................................ 2 

The purpose and structure of this review............................................................................... 3 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 4 

National policy context ....................................................................................................... 4 

Lewisham policy context .................................................................................................... 6 

Recent research into housing and mental health ............................................................... 7 

What other local areas have set up ................................................................................... 8 

The current situation for social housing ............................................................................... 10 

More people with mental health needs are being housed in general needs housing ........ 10 

People with mental health problems often have a housing related problem as well ......... 11 

How housing providers are responding ............................................................................... 13 

Most housing providers offer tenancy support and sustainment services ......................... 13 

Housing providers are trying to provide more targeted support and interventions ............ 14 

Most housing providers provide some form of mental health training for staff .................. 15 

Ways of helping tenants to help themselves .................................................................... 17 

The problems that housing providers are facing .................................................................. 19 

Housing providers are having information-gathering difficulties ....................................... 19 

Housing providers and local partners are not working together ....................................... 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreword 
1.1 [to follow] 

Executive Summary  
2.1 [to follow] 

Recommendations 
3.1 [to follow] 
 

 

Page 14



3 
 

The purpose and structure of this review 
 

4.1 At its meeting on 25 May 2016 the Housing Select Committee agreed to hold 
an in-depth review into housing and mental health, particularly how social 
housing tenants with low-level or mild mental health issues (such as anxiety 
and depression) are supported. 
 

4.2 At its meeting on 6 July 2016, the Committee agreed the scope of the review.  
 
4.3 It was agreed that the Committee would need to establish: 

 The rates of mental ill health among social housing tenants 

 The most common mental health issues among social housing tenants 

 How housing providers currently respond to and provide for tenants with 
mental health problems – specific processes, special training, joint-working 
arrangements 

 The contribution of the voluntary and community sector 

 Examples of good practice from local areas 
 
4.4 The key questions the review looks to answer are: 

 What are the key services to someone living in social housing with mental 
health needs? 

 What are the barriers to closer working between relevant local bodies and 
organisations 

 What can be done to help local housing providers identify mental health 
problems and provide appropriate support at the earliest possible 
opportunity? 

 
4.5 The timetable for the review was: 

 In October 2016 the Committee heard from representatives from the Council 
and local housing providers 

 In November 2016 the Committee heard from other local Councils – for 
example, Islington, Southwark, Richmond 

 In January the Committee heard from local organisations – for example, 
Mind, Carers Lewisham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



4 
 

Introduction  
 
5.1 In recent years, as awareness of mental health has increased, and public 

attitudes towards mental health have improved, mental health has continued to 
move up the policy agenda across government. Research has also recognised 
the significant social and economic impact that poor mental health can have – 
with some estimates putting the cost to the UK economy at over £100 billion a 
year.1 
 

5.2 There is now a broad consensus across society on the need for change, for a 
shift towards prevention and, in particular, for mental health issues to be given 
the same priority as physical health issues. There’s also been a wider push for 
the integration of health and care – encouraging services to work together more 
to provide better health outcomes. 

 
5.3 While the integration of health and care is taking shape, there are still a number 

of barriers to more joined-up working when it comes to housing and mental 
health – particularly those around providing and sharing information.2 

 
5.4 To develop closer working, some local areas have put in place joint-working 

and vulnerable-people protocols – allowing the relevant local bodies to agree 
and set out how they’ll work together to deal with certain situations. As part of 
this, some local areas have also rolled out mental health awareness training to 
frontline staff – helping them to identify mental health problems and to provide 
more appropriate help and support. 

 
National policy context  

 

5.5 There have been a number of national policy developments in recent years – 
as public awareness and understanding of mental health issues has continued 

to grow.3  

 
5.6 The previous government launched the mental health strategy for England, No 

health without mental health, in 2011 – setting out the government’s plans to 
improve people’s mental health and wellbeing and to improve services for those 

with mental health problems.4 

 
5.7 The strategy noted the importance of housing and said that housing providers 

had a key role in improving mental health outcomes – both by providing settled 
accommodation and by providing the support services that people need to 
maintain their tenancies. The strategy suggested a number of ways that 

housing providers could support people at risk of mental ill health:5  

                                                           
1 Mental Health Foundation, Fundamental Facts About Mental Health, 2015, p1    
2 See, for example, Shelter, Good practice: briefing, A long way from home, Mental distress and long-
term homelessness, Dec 2008 
3 For a comprehensive overview see: House of Commons Library, Mental health policy in England, 2016 
4 Department of Health, No health without mental health, 2011 
5 Department of Health, No health without mental health: implementation framework, 2011, p38 

Page 16

https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/fundamental-facts-15.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/147187/GP_Briefing_A_Long_Way_from_Home_Mental_Distress.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/147187/GP_Briefing_A_Long_Way_from_Home_Mental_Distress.pdf
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7547
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-mental-health-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216870/No-Health-Without-Mental-Health-Implementation-Framework-Report-accessible-version.pdf


5 
 

 
 

5.8 Building on this, in 2014, the government published Closing the gap: priorities 
for essential change in mental health. This stated that parts of mental health 
care and support weren’t changing fast enough, and set out 25 areas for 
immediate change – including providing more people with mental health 
problems with homes that support recovery. The report focused on supported 
housing, but recognised more widely the importance of settled accommodation 
that can support recovery from mental illness.6 
 

5.9 Later in 2014, the government also published the Mental health crisis care 
concordat. This set out a joint agreement on how public services should work 
together to respond to people who are in a mental health crisis. It focused on 
the health, social care and criminal justice systems, but stated that it was also 
relevant to other partners, such as housing providers.7 

 
5.10 Most recently, in February 2016, the independent Mental Health Taskforce, 

chaired by the Chief Executive of Mind, published the Five Year Forward View 
for Mental Health – setting out a series of recommendations for improving 
outcomes in mental health over the next ten years.  

 
5.11 Among several other things, the wide-ranging report noted the importance of 

stable housing. It said that local housing providers, mental health services and 
local authorities, should work together and share joint plans and other 
information so that “mainstream housing services can play a more active role in 
preventing mental health problems arising”.8   

                                                           
6 Department of Health, Closing the gap: priorities for essential change in mental health, 2014, p28 
7 Department of Health et al, Mental health crisis care concordat, 2014, p11 
8 Mental Health Taskforce, Five Year Forward View for Mental Health, 2016, pp25-6 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281250/Closing_the_gap_V2_-_17_Feb_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281242/36353_Mental_Health_Crisis_accessible.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf


6 
 

Lewisham policy context  
 

5.12 One of the priority areas of Lewisham’s health and wellbeing strategy is 
improving mental health. The strategy notes that rates of both common mental 
illness, such as anxiety and depression, and severe mental illness, such as 
schizophrenia and bipolar disorders, are higher 
in Lewisham than the London and national 
average.9  

 
5.13 As part of improving mental health, the health 

and wellbeing strategy notes, among other 
things, the importance of early identification – 
and says that “identifying risk factors and early 
presentation of mental health problems can 
prevent escalation and help recovery”.10 

 
5.14 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), underlying the strategy, also 

notes the mental health differences within Lewisham itself – with wards in the 
south of the borough having 25% to 40% higher needs than other, more 
affluent areas – and the significant social and economic impact that poor 
mental health can have.11  The JSNA also states that mental health care that 
includes elements of support outside of health, such and debt counselling, 
employment support and housing support, can have a significant impact on 
mental health outcomes.  

 
5.15 The JSNA points out that around half of referrals to mental health services 

come from agencies and organisations other than GPs – and that demand for 
mental health awareness training for frontline staff in non-health related 
organisations has been very high. 

 
5.16 As well as the aims of the health and wellbeing 

strategy, a key part of Lewisham’s housing 
strategy is preventing homelessness – including 
among people with mental health needs. The 
strategy highlights the work of the Single 
Homeless Intervention and Prevention Service 
(SHIP) – which provides advice to residents 
facing homelessness – and states that 
simplifying the process of getting support is 
crucial to preventing homelessness among 
people with mental ill health and other needs.12 

 
 

 

                                                           
9 Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board, Achieving a healthier and happier future for all Health and wellbeing 
strategy, December 2013, p19 
10 ibid 
11 Lewisham Strategic Partnership, Lewisham's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
12 Lewisham Council, Lewisham Housing Strategy 2015-2020, March 2015, pp17-8 

Around three 

quarters of common 

mental illnesses, 

such as anxiety and 

depression, go 

undiagnosed. 

Source: JSNA 

 

Rates of common 

mental illnesses: 

 Lewisham: 19.8%   

 London: 18.2%  

 England: 16.6% 

Source: JSNA 

 

 

Source: JSNA 

 

Page 18

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/improving-public-health/Documents/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/socialcare/health/improving-public-health/Documents/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.lewishamjsna.org.uk/
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/strategies/Documents/HousingStrategy2015.pdf


7 
 

Recent research into housing and mental health 
 

5.17 Recent research into housing and mental health has made a number of 
observations and recommendations about the housing-related problems faced 
by people with mental health needs. Some of the measures most often talked 
about include establishing joint-working agreements between local 
organisations and providing more mental health awareness training for frontline 
staff.  

 
5.18 A report on housing and mental health by the NHS confederation noted that 

mental health issues are often cited as a reason for tenancy breakdown – and 
that it is often housing problems that lead to a further deterioration of mental 
health.13 Research by Shelter also found that tenancy loss is a common issue 
for people with mental health needs – and that losing a tenancy can often 
exacerbate mental health problems.14 Shelter found that, without appropriate 
and timely support, mental health problems can contribute to a cycle of failed 
tenancies and long-term homelessness.15 

 

5.19 The NHS Confederation also said, however, that housing providers can play an 
important role in supporting people to maintain their tenancies. They said that, 
by working in partnership, housing and mental health providers can provide 
better pathways and outcomes for tenants with mental health needs.16 The 
NHS Confederation recommended, among other things, that housing and 
mental health providers should use predictive analysis to identify those most at 
risk to provide targeted care and support. They also suggested that housing 
providers could play a key role in signposting more people to relevant early 
intervention services.17  

 
5.20 Shelter also said that housing providers have a vital role in preventing people 

with mental health problems from losing their tenancies and that it’s crucial that 
frontline workers are able to identify housing problems early on. They made a 
number of recommendations about what action housing providers could take 
(see text to the right):18 

 
5.21 A report by the National Housing Federation also commented that there was 

huge potential for health and housing providers to work together – with 
considerable advantages to service users and the public purse.19 The report 
said that a number of housing providers were already working in partnership 
with local health organisations to offer psychological therapies and other early 
intervention services.20  

 

                                                           
13 NHS Confederation, Housing and mental health, December 2011, p2 
14 Shelter, A long way from home Mental distress and long-term homelessness, December 2008, p3 
15 ibid, p5 
16 NHS Confederation, Housing and mental health, December 2011, p1 
17 ibid, p4 
18 Shelter, A long way from home Mental distress and long-term homelessness, December 2008, p5 
19 National Housing Federation, Health and housing: worlds apart? Housing care and support solutions to health 
challenges, 2010, p43 
20 ibid, p27 

Page 19

http://www.nhsconfed.org/~/media/Confederation/Files/Publications/Documents/Housing_MH_021211.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/147187/GP_Briefing_A_Long_Way_from_Home_Mental_Distress.pdf
http://www.nhsconfed.org/~/media/Confederation/Files/Publications/Documents/Housing_MH_021211.pdf
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/147187/GP_Briefing_A_Long_Way_from_Home_Mental_Distress.pdf
http://www.housinglin.org.uk/_library/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Other_reports_and_guidance/Worlds_Apart_final_doc.pdf
http://www.housinglin.org.uk/_library/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Other_reports_and_guidance/Worlds_Apart_final_doc.pdf


8 
 

5.22 Recent research by the Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) also found that the 
responsibilities of frontline housing staff are changing. It found that housing 
organisations are increasingly dealing with customers with multiple and 
complex needs – where a housing-only response is not enough – and that that 
supporting vulnerable tenants to sustain their tenancies is becoming 
increasingly important.21 

 
5.23 The research recognised that there is a debate about what support can be 

provided by housing organisations, but noted that tenancy loss is expensive to 
housing providers and that providing support to maintain tenancies makes good 
business sense.22 The research found that many housing providers are making 
tenancy sustainment a top priority.23  

 
5.24 The CIH found that many housing providers are starting to pick-up issues like 

non-payment earlier on, so that conversations about the underlying causes can 
be started – and the relevant support provided – as soon as possible.24   

 
5.25 The CIH also found that frontline collaboration is becoming increasingly 

important to frontline staff – and that local partnerships and shared training are 
too becoming more important as cuts to local services take their toll.25 

 

What other local areas have set up 

 
5.26 To achieve better outcomes for tenants with mental health problems, some 

local areas have tried to encourage closer working between local housing and 
mental health providers by establishing joint agreements about how tenants 
with mental health needs should be treated. 

 
5.27 The Richmond upon Thames Mental 

Health and Housing Joint Working 
Protocol is a recent example. 
Published in May 2016, this sets out an operational-level agreement on the 
working relationship and information sharing arrangements between mental 
health services, housing providers and the council.  

 
5.28 The agreement notes that in many cases it is only when different agencies 

share information that a comprehensive picture of needs and risk can be built 
up – and sets out mechanisms for housing and mental health professionals to 
share appropriate and relevant information about their service users within a 
framework that protects privacy.26 Richmond Council said that better 
communication and understanding between mental health services and 
housing provides greater efficiencies for the council and better and smoother 
services for tenants. 

 

                                                           
21 Chartered Institute of Housing et al, New era, changing role for housing officers, 2014, p13, 21 
22 ibid, p14 
23 ibid, p33 
24 ibid, p33 
25 ibid, p34 
26 Richmond Council et al, Mental Health and Housing Joint Working Protocol, May 2016 , pp10-13 

Page 20

http://www.cih.org/resources/PDF/Policy%20free%20download%20pdfs/Frontline%20futures%20report%20final.pdf
http://www.richmond.gov.uk/mental_health_joint_working_protocol.pdf


9 
 

5.29 The focus of the agreement is cases where someone with mental health needs 
is the victim or perpetrator of anti-social behaviour – where there is a danger 
that without the right information the wrong action could be taken, possibly 
leading to the loss of a tenancy.27  

 
5.30 The agreement also states that all professionals in partner agencies can 

access training on mental health and housing – held three times per year – and 
that following training, staff are encouraged to shadow a professional from 
another organisation. 

 
5.31 Another example is Southwark Council’s 

protocol on housing and vulnerable tenants. This 
sets out steps to prevent vulnerable tenants, 
including those with mental health needs, from 
becoming homeless.28 Like the research above, 
it also notes that it’s more cost-effective to support vulnerable tenants to 
maintain their tenancies than to evict them – and goes on to set out guidance 
on pre-tenancy action and dealing with problems during the tenancy. 

 
5.32 In terms of identifying and dealing with problems during the tenancy, the 

guidance states that where it is know that the tenant is vulnerable and a 
problems arises – for example, non-payment of rent or anti-social behaviour – 
that the housing provider should conduct a home visit and if necessary make 
an appropriate referral.  

 
5.33 Where the tenant is not previously known to any other agencies, the guidance 

states that they should be referred to SUSTAIN – a specialist team set up 
specifically to prevent tenancy breakdown by providing advice, support and 
making the right referrals. 

 
5.34 Islington Council also launched a housing and mental health joint working 

protocol in 2011.29 Like those above, this was also developed to help provide 
the best possible outcome for services users by improving communication and 
information sharing between mental health and housing providers. 

 
5.35 It sets out the working relationships between the local 

health services, housing providers and the council and 
the procedures for dealing with vulnerable clients – 
including sharing personal information, routes for 
communication, time frames and escalation processes.  

 
5.36 Islington council said that previously issues like hoarding may have been 

reported and dealt with as an anti-social behaviour issue, but that now anti-
social behaviour and tenancy management teams can share information and 
identify the right support for residents who might be experiencing mental health 
issues. 

                                                           
27 ibid, p17 
28 Southwark Council, Protocol with Housing - Vulnerable Tenants [accessed June 2016] 
29 See, Islington Council, Housing and Mental Health Joint Working Protocol (presentation), [undated] 

Page 21

http://southwark.proceduresonline.com/chapters/pr_hous_vulnable.htm
https://www.islington.gov.uk/publicrecords/library/Democracy/Publicity/Public-notices/2015-2016/(2015-04-09)-Appendix-3-.pdf


10 
 

The current situation for social housing  

 
6.1 Over the course of the review the Committee received a wide range of 

evidence, in writing and in person, from a wide range of local and national 
stakeholders, including some of the largest social housing providers in 
Lewisham.  
 

6.2 This helped the Committee to start to build an understanding of the mental 
health-related issues currently being experienced by social housing tenants and 
providers, included trying to establish the prevalence and types of mental 
illness and mental health-related issues.  

 
6.3 From this, a number of key themes emerged: 
 

More people with mental health needs are being housed in general needs 

housing 

6.4 Most housing providers in Lewisham were unable to provide reliable data on 
the numbers of tenants in their properties with mental health needs.  
 

6.5 They told the Committee, however, that they are aware that increasing 
numbers of vulnerable people – people with multiple and complex needs and 
mental health needs of various levels – are being housed in general needs 
housing in Lewisham.  

 
6.6 During a recent pilot in a nearby borough, for example, one provider, L&Q, 

found that around 50% of their residents in general needs housing had some 
form of vulnerability.  

 
6.7 Despite the lack of reliable data, the large majority of housing providers said, in 

their experience, that low-level or mild mental health needs, such as 
depression, anxiety and stress, were becoming increasingly common across 
the borough. 

 
6.8 These are often needs that don’t quite reach the levels for statutory 

intervention, but which are impacting on the resident’s ability to maintain their 
tenancy and which housing providers are finding it difficult to access the right 
support for.  
 

6.9 The Committee was told, as things stand, that mental health problems usually 
have to escalate to crisis point before any help or intervention is provided. 
Given the damaging impact this has on the individual, their neighbours, and the 
providers themselves, providers agreed that more prevention and early 
intervention is needed – as advocated in the mental health strategy for 
England.30 

 

6.10 The Committee notes that housing providers are coming across increasing 
numbers of vulnerable people, particularly those with low-level or mild mental 

                                                           
30 HM Government, No health without mental health, February 2011 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213761/dh_124058.pdf


11 
 

health problems, and expresses concern about housing providers’ difficulties 
establishing reliable data on tenants with mental health problems.  
 

6.11 We know from the Lewisham JSNA that the rates of common mental illness, 
such as anxiety and depression, are generally higher in Lewisham than the 
London and national average. And if housing providers are to fully understand 
the scale of the issue among their tenants and respond effectively they will 
need more accurate information.   

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 

People with mental health problems often have a housing related problem 

as well 

6.12 The South London and Maudsley NHS 
Foundation Trust (SLAM) explained to 
the Committee that while services like 
their Assessment and Liaison Service 
aim to help people recover within 12 
weeks, it can often take much longer 
than this. They said the main reason for 
this is that there are often a number of 
other underlying problems or difficulties 
that people are facing that often can’t be 
resolved within this time. 
 

6.13 In SLAM’s experience, these underlying 
problems are almost inevitably related to 
housing and tenancy or money and debt. 
If someone has a housing-related 
problem, SLAM will try to help them to 
maintain their tenancy, or find another, 
because if someone is having serious 
housing or money problems they are unlikely to make a successful recovery 
with just mental health treatment. 
 

6.14 Mind Bromley & Lewisham said that 32% of people referred to their Community 
Support Service last year had a housing-related issue – 25% of these lived in 
the private rented sector.  

 

SLAM manage two main intake 
services in Lewisham: the 
Increasing Access to Psychological 
Therapy (IAPT) service and the 
Assessment and Liaison service 
based at Southbrook Road.  

The Assessment and Liaison 
service helps people who may be 
approaching crisis point. It aims to 
stabilise people within 12 weeks, but 
it often takes much longer. 90% of 
referrals to the Assessment and 
Liaison service come from GPs.  

The IAPT service has a very high 
recovery rate: 50% of the people 
that access it get better, and around 
65% of those who use the service 
will see a clinically significant 
improvement. 

 

Page 23

https://slam-iapt.nhs.uk/lewisham/welcome-to-iapt-lewisham/
https://slam-iapt.nhs.uk/lewisham/welcome-to-iapt-lewisham/
http://www.slam.nhs.uk/our-services/service-finder-details?CODE=SU0568


12 
 

6.15 In Mind’s experience, most housing 
issues relate to repairs or rent 
arears. They said that living in poor 
conditions and not feeling like you 
can go to the landlord, which is often 
the case in private rented housing, 
often exacerbates anxiety, 
depression and other mental health 
issues.  

 
6.16 To support people with low-level 

mental ill health living in the private 
rented sector, Mind will intervene 
and speak to the landlord on the 
person’s behalf and try to come to 
an agreement. This may involve, for 
example, coming to a payment plan 
to avoid eviction or talking to the 
landlord about repairs that need to 
be done.  

 
6.17 One of the lead mental-health GPs in the borough mentioned that the threat of 

eviction and money problems hanging over people are frequent contributors to 
mental health problems.  

 
6.18 The Committee noted that the percentage of people with mental health 

problems living in the private rented sector is only likely to increase as the 
sector increases as a whole, and expressed concern about the strain that this 
might put on mental health services in the community such as Mind.  

 

Recommendations 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mind’s Community Support service in 
Lewisham helps people to stay out of 
secondary care by providing short-term 
interventions of around 12 weeks. 
However, underlying problems or 
difficulties, like poverty and chaotic home 
lives, can mean it takes longer. By 
intervening early on, the service is able 
to help people get back to the point 
where they can begin dealing with things 
themselves again, but without other 
support there is always a risk of them 
sliding back.  

27% of referrals come from secondary 
level services, this includes 19% from 
the Assessment and Liaison service. 
20% of referrals come from GPs. Only a 
handful come from housing providers.  

85% of all referrals mention anxiety and 
depression. 

 

Page 24



13 
 

How housing providers are responding 
 
7.1 From the evidence taken the Committee was also able to build a picture of the 

way that housing providers are currently responding to tenants with mental 
health needs, including how they’re identifying tenants with needs; what help 
and support they offer; and what training they’re providing to their staff.  
 

7.2 The Committee heard a number of example of good practice, from local and 
national stakeholders, but also a number of areas where more work could be 
done.  

 
7.3 Some of the key findings included:  
 

Most housing providers offer tenancy support and sustainment services  

 
7.4 Most housing providers in Lewisham provide a range of support services for 

residents struggling with a variety of issues – from help with accessing benefits 
to getting involved in community activities.  
 

7.5 Most provide “tenancy sustainment” or “tenancy support” services of some 
form. Tenancy sustainment services commonly provide vulnerable tenants at 
risk of losing their tenancy with holistic support to help them get back on track 
and stay in their home.  

 
7.6 As part of their tenancy sustainment services, a number of providers offer help 

with budgeting, and some with managing debt. The support on offer is usually 
for a fixed amount of time, up to six months in some cases, after which the 
provider may in some cases resort to eviction proceedings.  

 
7.7 Mental health specialists, such as Mind, and independent financial experts, 

such as the Financial Ombudsman, have long spoken about the link between 
mental ill health and money problems.31  

 

7.8 The National Housing Federation mentioned that most housing associations 
across the country provide a range of interventions, including for mental health 
needs, to support people to live independently and healthily. This includes 
employment support, tenancy sustainment, and floating support.  

 
7.9 The National Housing Federation cited Progress Housing Association in 

Preston as a particularly good example of housing supporting people with 
mental health needs. After seeing increasing numbers of people with mental 
health needs, Progress developed a number of support services, including 
financial advice (in partnership the local Citizens Advice Bureau and credit 
union) and pre-employment support services (in partnership with local 
employers). Progress Futures, for example, is a free service for Progress 
tenants that helps them access training, apprentices and employment support 
to improve their job prospects and achieve their goals. 

                                                           
31 See, for example, money and mental health, Mind website (accessed February 2017), mental 
health and debt, Financial Ombudsman website (accessed February 2017) 

Page 25

http://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/tips-for-everyday-living/money-and-mental-health/how-money-problems-can-affect-your-mental-health/
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk/publications/ombudsman-news/138/138-opening-up.html
http://www.financial-ombudsman.org.uk/publications/ombudsman-news/138/138-opening-up.html


14 
 

 
7.10 Despite noticing an increase in mental health issues among their tenants, and 

finding it hard to find support for lower-level mental health problems, Lewisham 
Homes do not have a tenancy sustainment team in place. They said they would 
like to, but do not have the resources. They said that they do recognise, 
however, that they need to re-engage with local partners so that they are able 
to better signpost people to the support that is available. 

 
7.11 Over the course of the review, the Committee heard that housing providers 

(and other partners) in Lewisham often find that mental health issues are one of 
the main reasons why someone has been struggling with their tenancy. One 
provider, Hyde, has found that the overwhelming majority of people with rent 
arrears and other tenancy issues have an underlying mental health issue.  

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 
 

Housing providers are trying to provide more targeted support and 
interventions  

 
7.12 Following the number of changes to welfare in recent years,32 and the 

increasing numbers of vulnerable people being housed in their properties, more 
housing providers are recognising that they have a responsibility to get to know 
their tenants and to play a role in their wellbeing.  
 

7.13 Family Mosaic, for example, are now paying much closer attention to the first 
year of a tenancy and, as well as assessing the tenant’s affordability, are also 
looking at their wider needs and vulnerabilities to try to provide more targeted 
interventions.  
 

7.14 The earlier problems are picked up, the more likely – and sometimes more able 
– people are to engage with the support on offer.  
 

7.15 The Committee was told how it’s generally in a provider’s interests to 
understand their tenants’ needs and support them to stay in their home. The 
alternative, the eviction process, is disruptive, stressful and expensive.  
 

7.16 To get a better understanding of their tenants’ needs, one provider, Phoenix, 
explained how they carry out a vulnerability assessment at the start of a 
tenancy, which looks at the tenant’s physical and mental health and whether 
they have any support workers or social carers. (A copy of the form used for 
this is included in the appendices).  
 

7.17 After this assessment, there are then at least three home visits during first year. 
One at six weeks to make sure the tenant’s settled in, and again at three and 

                                                           
32 Major changes to the benefits system have come into force in the last few years, including the 
benefit cap, the bedroom tax and the roll out of universal credit 

Page 26



15 
 

eight months to make sure they’re accessing the support services they need. 
Visits like these provide a valuable opportunity to pick up on any signs of 
possible mental ill health in the home. 
  

7.18 Some providers have made understanding their residents’ vulnerabilities part of 
their corporate objectives. For most providers, however, much of this work 
relies on finding further income. Providers stressed that the responsibilities of 
housing providers and other services like social care need to be carefully 
worked out in cases of low-level mental health. 
 

7.19 As housing providers find themselves housing more and more vulnerable 
people likely to struggle with their tenancy, some are also looking into ways of 
categorising tenants according to needs so that they can provide more tailored 
interventions.  
 

7.20 One provider, Family Mosaic, explained how they are categorising the ability of 
their resident to manage their tenancies on a scale of green, amber and red, 
and tailoring their interventions accordingly. 
 

7.21 Residents in the green category would be those able to afford their tenancy and 
who need the least support, those in the amber category would be those who 
may need some support finding work or managing their money, for example, 
and those in the red category would be those that are a long way from a work 
and in need of the most support. 
 

7.22 The Committee is pleased to hear that housing providers are beginning to play 
more of a role in their tenants’ wellbeing. The Committee recognises the 
benefits for both tenants and housing providers of identifying problems early on, 
providing appropriate support and trying to maintain a tenancy – rather than 
going for eviction. A more proactive approach is also widely advocated by a 
number of other stakeholders, including the Chartered Institute for Housing, 
Shelter, NHS Confederation, and the Government. 

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 
 

Most housing providers provide some form of mental health training for 
staff 

 

7.23 Housing providers provide their staff with a range of training on a range of 
issues, from hoarding to domestic violence. Most provided various levels of 
mental health training as well, on topics including mental health pathways, 
possible trigger points, signs and symptoms of mental illness, and making the 
right referrals.  
 

7.24 Housing providers tend to focus much of their training on their frontline staff. 
More in-depth mental health training tends to be focused on those most likely to 

Page 27



16 
 

have to recognise and work with people with mental health issues, such as 
tenancy sustainment officers.  

 
7.25 One provider, Phoenix, provides training on having “challenging conversations”, 

which is designed to give staff the necessary skills to deal with different 
sensitive and challenging situations.  

 
7.26 As well as formal training, the Committee also heard how more experienced 

housing staff tend to be more familiar with local services and how this this can 
help people get the right support earlier on.  

 
7.27 Some providers, L&Q for example, have also invited local partners to speak at 

team meetings. Housing providers acknowledged, however, that knowledge of 
local services among their staff is something they could still get better at.  

 
7.28 One local service provider, Mind, said that their experience of housing 

providers is that that they don’t understand mental health at all; that they don’t 
recognise mental health problems until there is a tenancy sustainment issue; 
and that they see anti-social behaviour as only that – they don’t see the 
underlying causes of the behaviour.  

 
7.29 Mind said that housing providers don’t seem to have proper training or be 

willing to engage with services like theirs. They said that the general mental 
health training that housing staff commonly receive isn’t focused enough for 
what they need. They said housing staff need specific training on spotting when 
mental ill health may be the cause of the housing problem and what to do next 
– similar to mental health first aid. 

 
7.30 Mind did mention that some individual housing officers are much better at 

engaging with them than others – often those who have worked with services 
like theirs before. But they complained that before people get to any sort of help 
or support they will usually have had letter after letter that they’re too scared to 
open, been threatened with eviction, and had people knocking on their door 
that they don’t know. Mind felt that people’s mental health problems were being 
aggravated by the systems they’re living within.  

 
7.31 SLAM thought that 

mental health training for 
housing officers – 
possibly involving their Recovery College – would be a great idea.33 They said 
that many housing officers don’t have a good understanding of what SLAM can 
and can’t do, believing that SLAM can cold-call whoever they want on the basis 
of a concern being raised. SLAM find that they often need to explain to partners 
that arranging contact with people, over the phone or face-to-face, needs to be 
done with consent.  

 

 

                                                           
33 SLAM’s Recovery College provides free course on recovering from mental ill health for people who 
use SLAM services, their carers, and SLAM staff 

Page 28

http://www.slamrecoverycollege.co.uk/


17 
 

 
7.32 After meeting with the head of 

housing at Southwark council, one 
member of the Committee spoke 
about how Southwark have found 
becoming a “Mindful Employer” a 
very helpful influence on their 
services – providing access to a 
number of good-practice guides 
covering a range of topics as well as 
online training modules for staff.    
 

7.33 The Committee is pleased to hear 
that most housing providers provide 
some level of mental health training – 
and hopes that all providers can build 
on this – but is concerned by what it 
heard from Mind about some housing 
providers.  

 
7.34 The Committee is aware of the importance of frontline staff having the right 

training and knowledge if they are to be able to recognise and respond to low-
level mental health problems. The Committee notes the suggestion from Mind 
that housing officers need more specific mental health training based on the 
situations they are most likely to come across. Evidence-based mental health 
awareness training is specifically recommended by a number of relevant 
stakeholders, including Shelter and the Government.   

 
7.35 The Committee appreciates why housing providers tend to focus mental health 

training on frontline staff, particular given current financial pressures. The 
Committee was also pleased, however, to hear during the course of the review 
that one of the largest housing providers in the borough, Hyde, are considering 
extending mental health awareness training to their repairs teams, given the 
direct contact they have with tenants. 

 

Recommendations 
 
 

  
 

Ways of helping tenants to help themselves 
 
7.36 In its first evidence session the Committee heard that some providers, Family 

Mosaic for example, felt that many tenants with low-level mental health 
problems, like anxiety and depression, or where they are out of work, also have 
problems with personal motivation (as they described it). They suggested that 
housing providers need to find way of using “nudging” people into higher levels 
of personal motivation.  

Mindful Employer is a voluntary NHS 
initiative, which aims to provide 
businesses and organisations with 
easier access to information and local 
support for staff that face stress, anxiety, 
depression or other mental health 
issues.  

It invites organisations to sign up to its 
Charter for Employers who are Positive 
About Mental Health, which is a 
voluntary set of aspirations and quality 
standards – there are currently more 
than 1,500 signatories – and provides 
members with access to mental health 
awareness training.  

The initiative has been recommended by 
the government and other national 
bodies. 

 

Page 29



18 
 

7.37 Providers discussed research that 
shows how creating communities 
with more befriending and 
volunteering opportunities can help 
with personal motivation.  

 
7.38 They also talked about a method of 

encouraging personal resilience and 
self-management which has been 
used in healthcare settings, the 
Patient Activation Measure, as 
something that could have some 
application to housing support 
services as well. 

 

 
7.39 Some providers, L&Q for example, are looking into the possibility of conditional 

tenancies and whether, rather than just offering people support, they can say 
that a tenancy comes with the requirement to attend certain support 
programmes – employment coaching, for example.  

 
7.40 It was acknowledged, however, that this is a potentially tricky approach and that 

it would need to be carefully thought through, flexible and evidence-based. 

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Nudge theory, or “behavioural insights”, 
is based on the idea that interventions 
are likely to be more effective if informed 
by an understanding of human 
behaviour.  

The 2010 Cabinet Office report Applying 
behavioural insight to health looks at 
how, by understanding how people react 
and behave in different situations, 
policymakers can design policy to go 
with the grain of how people behave 
rather than against it, both improving 
outcomes and respecting people’s 
autonomy. 

 

According to the King’s Fund “patient activation” is about the knowledge, skills and 
confidence a person has in managing their own health and health care.  

People with low levels of activation are less likely to play an active role in staying 
healthy. They are less good at seeking help when they need it and will often prefer 
not to think about it.  

Highly activated patients, on the other hand, are more likely to adopt healthy 
behaviour and to have lower rates of hospitalisation. Tailoring services to patient 
activation levels can also maximise productivity and efficiency.  

 

Shelter cited their work as part of the Manchester Advice Alliance. This comprises 
social housing providers, local Citizens Advice Bureaus, local CCGs, and GPs and 
involves GPs giving advice on prescription – rather than handing out leaflets or 
signposting. The individual is then able to take their prescription to advice agencies. 
People who have used this service have said that they value the ability to access 
independent agencies, and that they feel in control, listened to and understood.    

 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/applying-behavioural-insight-to-health-behavioural-insights-team-paper
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/applying-behavioural-insight-to-health-behavioural-insights-team-paper
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/supporting-people-manage-health-patient-activation-may14.pdf


19 
 

The problems that housing providers are facing 
 

8.1 Through analysis of the evidence received and questioning of local and 
national stakeholders the Committee was also able identify some of the barriers 
potentially holding housing providers back from proving more effective support 
for tenants with mental health needs – as well as what can be done to help 
overcome these.  
 

8.2 The key issues that emerged were: 
 

Housing providers are having information-gathering difficulties  
 

8.3 The Committee heard that most housing providers have experienced problems 
with either sharing or gathering information about the mental health needs of 
their tenants.  
 

8.4 Housing providers said that sharing information about tenants’ needs is often 
unnecessarily complex and difficult – with the law around data protection widely 
misunderstood and allowed to get in the way.  
 

8.5 Housing providers are also finding that some tenants are uncomfortable with 
telling them that they have a mental health issue which makes getting that 
tenant’s consent to make a referral, or share information about them with local 
partners, extremely difficult.  
 

8.6 Most housing providers are struggling to gather reliable data on the numbers of 
people in their properties with mental health issues. They said that some 
tenants are reluctant to share information that they think will affect their tenancy 
and, given the nature of mental health, others may not even realise they have 
an illness or need help. 
 

8.7 To overcome some of their information-sharing problems, one provider, Family 
Mosaic, has established a confidential helpline, which allows people to share 
information anonymously if they’re concerned about a person’s wellbeing.  

 
8.8 The Committee was told how repairs teams, for example, often see things that 

others won’t and how this helpline gives them an easy and anonymous way of 
reporting their concerns. 
 

8.9 Other providers, Phoenix for example, spoke about how they rely on building 
open and trusting relationships with their tenants and good working 
relationships with their local partners to find out about their tenants’ 
vulnerabilities.  
 

8.10 The Committee expresses concern about the difficulties housing providers are 
having gathering and sharing information and notes how this can prevent 
people with low-level mental health needs getting the support that they need. 
Encouraging housing providers, mental health services and local authorities to 
work together and share information was a key point of the NHS’s Five Year 
Forward View for Mental Health. 

Page 31



20 
 

8.11 The Committee notes that there is also a need for better guidance on data 
protection, confidentiality and the information providers can share to help 
people, including when and how to ask for consent. The Committee notes that 
the Social Care Institute for Excellence has published online information-
sharing guidance for frontline housing staff and contractors.34 

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 
 

Housing providers and local partners are not working together  
 

8.12 Over the course of the review, the Committee heard that housing providers and 
other local partners have experienced a number of problems working with each 
other and trying to work more closely.  
 

8.13 One housing provider, Phoenix, spoke about the problems they’ve had with not 
hearing back from local partners after making referrals to them – social care, for 
example. They explained how they’ve previously made referrals, expecting 
someone from that organisation to make contact with the person, only to later 
find out that the case has been closed without any contact being made.  
 

8.14 The Committee was told how much harder this makes it for housing providers 
to keep track of their tenants’ wellbeing and make sure they’re getting the 
support they need.  
 

8.15 According to one of the largest housing providers in the borough, Hyde, 
frontline staff are finding it incredibly difficult to access professional support 
once they’ve picked up on someone’s mental health problems. After being 
consulted, nearly all frontline staff at this provider said that they’d like to see 
better access to support for low-level mental health problems.  
 

8.16 Several witnesses told the Committee that there is an overwhelming lack of 
cohesion between housing providers and other local partners, and that 
providing effective early support currently relies on individuals building good 
relationships with other individuals in other agencies. Given that these 
relationship and arrangements are liable to breaking down when these 
individuals move on, witnesses suggested that having one agreed way of 
working between local partners would help everyone to provide more consistent 
and effective support. 
 

8.17 A number of providers noted that Lewisham used to have a hoarding protocol 
and panel in place, which had helped local partners coordinate their actions 
better, and suggested that it would be helpful if the protocol and panel could be 
refreshed.  

                                                           
34 SCIE, Sharing information, joint working and communication: Guidance for frontline housing staff 
and contractors (accessed February 2017) 
 

Page 32

http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/guides/guide53/frontline-housing/sharing-information.asp
http://www.scie.org.uk/publications/guides/guide53/frontline-housing/sharing-information.asp


21 
 

 
8.18 Council officers assured providers that there is still an officer responsible for the 

hoarding protocol.  
 

8.19 A member of the Committee also spoke about the hoarding and anti-social 
behaviour protocols and panels in place in Southwark, and how these have 
allowed people from different organisations to come together and address 
situations and people’s needs holistically.  
 

8.20 Shelter and the National Housing Federation both advocated a multi-agency, 
whole-system approach.  
 

8.21 Shelter cited the example of their new Welcome Home Service in Birmingham. 
This is a partnership between Shelter and Birmingham Mind which involves 
specialists from Mind and Shelter embedded in clinical settings, helping people 
with mental health related issues. Mind helps with issues such as access to 
counselling and Shelter help with problems related to landlords, benefits and 
rent deposits. 
 

8.22 The National Housing Federation cited the health and housing memorandum of 
understanding in Nottingham as a good example of health and housing working 
together.35 

8.23 Nearly everyone the Committee heard from over the course of the review 
expressed a strong interest in the idea of setting up a panel or workshop for 
housing providers to come together and share information, experiences, and 
best practice. Housing providers in particular recognised that they’re all facing 
very similar challenges and that a panel or workshop would be a good way to 
build an evidence base about what works and come to a common approach, 
rather than trying to work it out individually.  
 

8.24 Housing providers suggested that it might also be helpful to involve other local 
partners from across the mental health pathway. The Committee was told that 
the longer a problem goes on the more difficult it tends to be to intervene, and 
that perhaps coming to a clear agreement on ways of working between housing 
providers and local partners could help them to work together and sort things 
out earlier on.  
 

8.25 Housing providers spoke about how there have been lots of changes to 
services in the borough recently and suggested that mapping what is now 

                                                           
35 Memorandum of Understanding to Support Joint Action on Improving Health through the Home: 
Nottingham a Local Perspective, July 2016 

The Nottingham Memorandum of Understanding is an agreement between local 
health, social care, housing and support colleagues who are committing to working 
in partnership to ensure that there is cross-sector identification and awareness of 
the needs of the local population. The Memorandum of Understanding provides the 
detail of how partners aim to fulfil the priorities set out in the local governing 
strategies for housing and health and wellbeing in Nottingham through early 
intervention and prevention activity. 

 

Page 33

http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s43748/Enc.%201%20for%20Nottingham%20Memorandum%20Of%20Understanding.pdf
http://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s43748/Enc.%201%20for%20Nottingham%20Memorandum%20Of%20Understanding.pdf


22 
 

available would also help them to provide more appropriate and timely 
interventions. They reiterated to the Committee that it’s often obvious to their 
frontline staff that something is wrong, but while they want to help, they don’t 
always know where to go.  
 

8.26 The South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLAM), the acute 
mental health provider in Lewisham, also suggested that a clear agreement on 
ways of working between all the relevant agencies in the borough, setting out in 
particular how people with low-level mental health issues should be helped, 
would be a really good idea.  
 

8.27 SLAM weren’t aware of anything like this in Lewisham and told the Committee 
that many people, including housing officers, misunderstand what SLAM can 
and can’t do.  
 

8.28 One local support agency said that some sort of local wellbeing panel or 
workshop, where providers could share ideas and establish relationships with 
other services in the borough (for them, the CCG in particular), would also help 
them to better support people with low-level mental ill health in the private 
rented sector.  
 

8.29 While there was broad support for setting up an agreement, with an 
accompanying panel or workshop, housing providers said that there are 
questions that need to be addressed about who would be responsible for 
setting up and running things.  
 

8.30 The Committee expresses considerable concern about the reported lack of 
cohesion among housing and mental health providers, and the reported gaps in 
knowledge among housing providers of what help there is for people with low-
level mental health issues. The Committee believes that this is clearly 
preventing vulnerable tenants from accessing more effective and timely 
support. 
 

8.31 Shelter, among others, have long-advocated the establishing of multi-agency 
protocols, with clear channels of communication, to help provide timely support, 
share information, and avoid tenancy loss.  
 

8.32 The Committee strongly believes that investing in better coordination and early 
intervention for low-level mental health problems is more effective, and 
cheaper, in the long run.    

 

Recommendations 
 
 

 

Page 34



 1 

Housing Select Committee 

Title The future provision of the Handyperson Service in 
Lewisham - update 

Key decision No Item no 5 

Wards All 

Contributors Executive Director for Customer Services 

Class Part 1 7 March 2017 

 
 

1 Purpose 
 

1.1  This report updates Housing Select Committee on the proposals to stop 
the direct provision by the Council of this service.  

2 Background 
 

2.1  On 16 November a Key Issues report, which included the results of 
customer feedback on the handypersons service, was presented to 
Housing Select Committee. This outlined Housing Services’ £1.5m 
contribution to the Council’s overall savings target required by 2020. The 
committee were also advised of underlying pressures totalling £0.7m 
relating to the homeless service which would require very tough decisions 
in terms of service provision over the next few years.  

 

2.2 The committee noted that whilst the handypersons service is a popular 
service the majority of service users did not want to pay for the service 
nor contribute sufficient amounts to cover the current costs and that as a 
non-mandatory service it was put forward as a saving for 2017/18; thus 
contributing £151,000 to the overall savings target. 

 

2.3  The committee noted alternative ways of providing the handypersons 
services at no cost to the Council were explored and made a referral to 
Mayor and Cabinet suggesting that Lewisham Homes be approached to 
find out if it could be viable for them to provide a handypersons service at 
a reasonable price. The referral was approved by Mayor and Cabinet on 
7 December 2016.  

 

2.4 Lewisham Homes has since agreed to advertise the service on their 
website whereby homeowners specifically request a particular service 
and, in order to cover costs, are charged an hourly rate. This would ensure 
that rents paid by Lewisham tenants would not be subsiding homeowners. 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



 2 

2.5 Lewisham Homes has confirmed the hourly rate to be £35.95 plus an on 
cost of £5.39 for administration, making the total hourly rate of £41.34. 

 

2.6  Appendix A, the full report to Mayor and Cabinet, is attached. This 
provides the detail that was presented to Housing Select Committee in 
November 2016. 

3     Recommendation 
 

3.1 The Housing Select Committee is requested to   
 

3.2 Note the draft report to Mayor and Cabinet contained here and intended 
to be considered on 22 March 2017. 

 

3.3 Note that following the referral by the Housing Select Committee to Mayor 
and Cabinet Lewisham Homes has agreed to advertise the service at an 
hourly rate to cover costs.  

 

3.4 Having considered the draft report, to provide comments that can be 
included in the consideration of the report at the meeting of Mayor and 
Cabinet on 22nd March. 

4 Report to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

4.1 From this point forward, the report contains a draft of the report intended 
to be considered by Mayor and Cabinet on 22nd March. 

 

 

Page 36



 3 

 

1 Purpose 
 

1.1  This report updates Mayor and Cabinet with the results of the handypersons 
consultation which was carried out in September 2016 and seeks approval to 
stop the direct provision by the Council of this service.  

2 Background 
 

2.1  A number of savings proposals are being considered by the council over the 
next few years in order to meet significant funding gaps. 
 

2.2  The Housing Services contribution to the Council’s overall savings target 
required by 2020 amounts to £1.5m. There are also underlying pressures 
totalling of £0.7m relating to the homeless service; this means very tough 
decisions are needed in terms of service provision over the next few years.  
 

2.3 The Handyperson Service provides minor repairs mainly to home owners in 
Lewisham who are elderly or vulnerable, and whilst the results of a survey 
undertaken in September 2016 indicated it is a very popular service this is not a 
mandatory service, and as such has been put forward as a saving for 2017/18.  
 

2.4 The proposal to stop the direct provision of the Handyperson Service contributes 
£151,000 to the overall savings target. 
 

2.5  In order to mitigate the impact of stopping the Service on this client group 
consideration was given to alternative ways of providing the services to this client 
group at no cost to the Council as well as seeking views from client users 
themselves as to their preparedness to pay for services received. 
 

2.6  The alternatives considered were Lewisham Homes’ Repair Service, retired 
Police officers in Lewisham (as this happens in Bromley) and Age UK. We also 
as well as looked at whether the Disabled Facilities Grant could be used to cover 
service costs. 
 

2.7 In terms of seeking feedback from users and potential users, a survey was sent 
on 23 September 2016 to residents in the borough who had used the 
Handypersons Service from April 2015 to August 2016 inclusive. The survey 

MAYOR AND CABINET 
  

Title 
  

The future provision of the Handyperson Service in Lewisham. 
 

Key Decision 
  

Yes  Item No. 

Ward 
  

All wards 

Contributors 
  

Executive Director of Customer Services  
 

Class 
  

Part 1 Date: 22 March 2017 

Page 37



 4 

included a return envelope and included 500 or so members of the Positive 
Ageing Council as well as being uploaded on the Positive Ageing Council 
website. 
 

2.8  On 16 November 2016 Housing Select Committee were presented the savings 
proposals together with the survey results. The Housing select Committee made 
a referral to Mayor and Cabinet that Lewisham Homes be approached to 
advertise the service at a charge to cover all costs rather than stopping the 
service altogether. The referral was received by Mayor and Cabinet on 7 
December 2016.  
 

2.9 Lewisham Homes has since agreed to advertise the service on their website 
whereby homeowners specifically request a particular service and, in order to 
cover costs, will be charged an hourly rate. This would ensure that rents paid by 
Lewisham tenants would not be subsiding homeowners. 
 

2.10 A further report is to be presented to Housing Select Committee on 7 March 
2017, and any further comment made by the committee will be tabled at Mayor 
and Cabinet as part of this report.  

 

3     Recommendation 
 

3.1 The Mayor is requested to   
 

3.2 Note the results of the resident survey undertaken in September 2016 (set out in 
section 4 below) 
 

3.3  Note the referral by Housing Select Committee on 16 November 2016 that 
requested officers to ask Lewisham Homes to provide a handypersons service 
at a reasonable price. 
 

3.4  Note that following the referral by the Housing Select Committee to Mayor and 
Cabinet Lewisham Homes has agreed to advertise the service at an hourly rate 
to cover costs.  
 

3.5  Agree to the Council stopping the direct provision of the handyperson service 
and achieve a saving of £151,000 and for Lewisham Homes to advertise this 
service on their website from April 2017 at a charge to cover the costs. 

 

4  Results of consultation survey 
 

4.1 Of the 1408 surveys sent, 525 responses (37.29%) were received by the closing 
date of 19 October 2016.  
 

4.2 The survey focused on 3 key areas: 
 

 How satisfied are you with the current service 

 If the service were to be deleted would you be willing to contribute  

Page 38



 5 

 Per job (and how much) 

 Per hour (and how much) 

 What other jobs would you like to see the handypersons undertake  
 

4.3 The headlines from the responses, show 77% satisfaction with the current 
service; based on 333 of the 432 service users stating the service was good, 7 
stating they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied and 2 stating they were 
dissatisfied.  
 

4.4  Contributions offered by service users to cover the costs of the service were 
varied but averaged at £20.00 per job or £5.80 per hour, although a very few 
(4%) said they would pay any amount to retain the service. This is compared to 
an average of £36.00 for current costs (minus overheads).  
 

4.5  For a full breakdown of survey feedback please see Appendix 1 
 

4.6  Alternative ways of providing the handypersons services at no cost to the 
Council were explored. The results are as follows:- 

 

 The Police Handyperson service based in Bromley (Blue), offer a 
handyperson service via ex-officers who live in Bromley however they 
will not be able to offer the service in Lewisham.  They do not have any 
ex-officers who live in the borough and they say they prefer not to go 
into London.  Lewisham Police were also approached but they do not 
offer a similar service. 
 

 Lewisham Homes provide a day to day repairs service to housing 
tenants however this does not include the type of jobs provided in the 
handypersons service such as fixing curtain rails etc. The repairs service 
in Lewisham Homes is funded from tenants rents (HRA), whereas the 
handyperson service is provided largely to homeowners through the 
general fund.  Whilst Lewisham Homes may be able to provide the 
service they would need to charge recipients of the handyperson 
services for the work undertaken to cover the costs as it would not be 
appropriate to use tenants’ rents to provide services to homeowners.  

 
Lewisham Homes, following Housing Select Committee comments, have 
been approached and have agreed to advertise the service and charge 
to cover costs. The average hourly rate has been confirmed by 
Lewisham Homes to be £35.95 plus an on cost of £5.39 for 
administration making the total hourly rate of £41.34. 

 
Therefore, Lewisham Homes could provide some handypersons services 
at a cost to the homeowner which would provide some mitigation for the 
closing of the service.  

 

 Voluntary Sector – Age UK currently provide a free service to 
Southwark residents that is funded through grant provided by Southwark 
Council and complements Southwark’s in-house service. Age UK have 
indicated they may be interested in taking on the service if Lewisham 

Page 39



 6 

grant funded it like Southwark but  this would not deliver the savings 
required.   
 

 Disabled Facilities Grant – this grant is used to provide major 
adaptations to make it easier for elderly and vulnerable people to remain 
living at home such as level access showers, stair lifts etc. Only costs 
associated with large capital expenditure items can be recovered from 
the grant therefore this option does not deliver the savings required.  

 

4.7 Housing Select Committee considered the alternative ways of providing the 
handypersons services and made a referral to Mayor and Cabinet suggesting 
that Lewisham Homes be approached to find out if it could be viable for them to 
provide a handypersons service at a reasonable price. The referral was approved 
by Mayor and Cabinet on 7 December 2016. 

  

4.8 Subsequently, Lewisham Homes has agreed to advertise the service,  to charge 
service users an hourly rate to cover costs and to trial this for a year 

 

4.9 We can estimate from the survey results that there is likely to be little take up as 
the vast majority of service users have indicated that they would not want to 
contribute at all or any amount to cover costs.  Therefore demand is likely to be 
low.  

 

4.10 Currently 3 handypersons are in post who would be in a redundancy position as 
a result of the closure of the Council’s service (see section 7 below) and 
redeployment options would be explored with them. 

5 Financial implications 
 

5.1 The deletion of the Handypersons Service will contribute £151k to an overall 
savings target for the strategic housing service of £1.5m to be achieved between 
2017/18 and 2019/2020 

6 Legal Implications 
 

6.1 TUPE is unlikely to apply as a result of the Council’s Handyperson’s Service 
closing and Lewisham Homes then advertising on a commercial basis - not on 
behalf of or subsidised by the Council.  The Council’s Management of Change 
Policy will ensure that redundancies will be carried out in accordance with the 
law. 

 

6.2 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the 
equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected              characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

6.3 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to: 

 

Page 40



 7 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected             
characteristic and those who do not. 

 

6.4 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of 
opportunity or foster good relations between persons who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need 
to achieve the goals listed above.  
 

6.5 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the 
decision and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, 
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must 
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected 
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the 
duty will necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is 
appropriate in all the circumstances. 
 

6.6 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on 
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 
2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The 
Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty 
and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality 
duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to 
meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but 
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling 
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical 
guidance can be found at: 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-

guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 

 

    https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-

guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance  
 

 
6.7  The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  
 

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 

Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 

Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 

Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 

Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 
 

Page 41

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838


 8 

6.8 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. 
Further information and resources are available at:  

 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-

guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1 

7 Equalities Implications 
 

7.1 ll residents who use this service are elderly or vulnerable. Almost three quarters 
stated they received a state pension and just under a third stated they received 
an illness related benefit. Paying for this service will impact on these groups. The 
majority of residents are home owners, many may be equity rich but cash poor. 
Officers have worked with Lewisham Homes to provide a fee structure to enable 
those on very low incomes to receive a minor repairs service as well as looking 
at other agencies who can support residents where they are unable to pay. 

 

8 Environmental Implications  
 

8.1 No specific environmental implications have been identified as arising from this 
report. 

 

9 Crime and Disorder Implications  
 

9.1 No specific crime and disorder implications have been identified as arising from 
this report 

 

10 Background Documents and report author 
 

10.1 Appendix 1: Handyperson survey results 
 

10.2 If you require further information about this report please contact Antoinette 
Stasaitis on 0208 314 9340. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


 9 

APPENDIX I 

 

Handyperson questionnaire – survey results  

November 2016 

Background 

On 7th September 2016, Housing Select Committee commented on the review being 

undertaken with regards to the handypersons service and noted a need to focus on 

the current level of satisfaction  with the service and the impact that a requirement to 

contribute to the service might have. A consultation was launched to capture feedback 

from clients and key partners with regards to the above points and to capture additional 

information about the client group and their future needs to inform future decision 

making. 

Survey methodology 

A postal questionnaire was sent on 23 September 2016 to 1408 elderly and disabled 

residents in the borough who had used the handypersons service over a 16 month 

period from April 2015 to August 2106 inclusive. To increase the likelihood of response 

a return envelope was included with all questionnaires. The survey was also sent to 

500 members of the Positive Ageing Council and was uploaded to their website. 

 

Top line result 

525 responses were received providing a 37% response rate amongst those contacted 

directly.  Not all respondents answered all of the questions and as such the below 

analysis may contain less than 525 in some responses.  

342 respondents answered the question regarding satisfaction with 97% recording 

satisfaction with the current service. The vast majority of service users said they would 

be unhappy to lose the service with over 92% reporting this. When asked whether they 

would be willing to contribute to the cost of the service, 119 did not answer. Over 65% 

said they would be willing to contribute between £0 and £10 per hour whereas under 

4% responded that they would pay whatever the cost of the work was. Last year’s 

financial data suggests the cost of providing the handyperson service is £36 per hour.  

 

Analysis  

Analysis of the responses to each question can be found below. 

Page 43



 10 

 
 

Of the 525 respondents;  

 374 (71%) had used the service before 

 93 (18%) had not used the service 

 58 (11%) left this question unanswered  
 
Many of the 58 who left this question blank answered later questions relating to 

satisfaction with the service.  

Of those who had used the service before women were by far the highest users (85%) 

with an even split between those of white and BME backgrounds. 

Of the males who responded and who had previously used the service 64% were white 

and 36% were from BME backgrounds.  

The age group who stated they used the service most were 70 to 79 year olds; this 

was similar for both male and females.  There was no difference to the age category 

having not used the service, with 70 -79 years being the most prevalent responders. 

Those people who had never used the service before, offered contributions averaging 

£10.00 per hour, compared to an average of £5.80 per hour for those who had used 

the service previously.  

 

 

374

93

58

525

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Yes

No

Left the question unanswered

Total

Question 1: Have you used Lewisham's handyperson service? 

Page 44



 11 

 

Of the 364 who answered this question; 

 Over 16% (59) had used the service in the last month 

 Over 21% (77) had used the service in the past 3 months 

 Almost 32% (116) had used the service in the last 6 months  

 The remaining just under 31% (112) had used the service over a year ago 

 15% left the question unanswered.  
 

 

 

The above table outlines the responses which respondents gave when asked which 

jobs had been carried out in their property. 35% of respondents recorded that the 

handyperson had fitted curtain rails, representing 22% of all jobs recorded. 19% 

recorded that the handyperson had fitted a handrail and 19% recording they had fitted 

a grab rail, each of which represented 12% of the total jobs recorded. 

Jobs carried out Percentage Number of people 

59

77

116

112

68

[] users 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500

In the last month

3 Months

6 Months

1 Year +

Left the question unanswered

Total

Question 2: When did you last use the handyperson service? 

83

37 45

150

45

14

83

33
60

23
40

68

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160

Question 3: If you have used the handyperson service what 
job(s) was carried out in your home?

432

Page 45



 12 

Fitting Curtain Rails 35% 150 

Handrail  19% 83 

Grab Rail 19% 83 

Replacing Fluorescent Lights 16% 68 

Fixing shelves 14% 60 

Replacing Tap Washer 10% 45 

Lock Replacement/repair 10% 45 

Fixing tap 9% 40 

Rearranging Furniture 9% 37 

Re-hanging door 8% 33 

Making carpets and flooring safe 5% 23 

Unblocking sink wastes 3% 14 

 

 

Of the 342 respondent who answered this question; 

 333 (77%) were satisfied with the handyperson service 

 7 service users (1.6%) responded they were neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 

 (0.4%) people said they were dissatisfied.  
 
43 of those who are recorded as satisfied in the above figures had crossed out 

satisfied and written very satisfied.  

 

 

 

333

7

2
90

432

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500

Satisfied

Neither satisfied or dissasisfied

Dissasfied

Unanswered

Total

Question 4: How satisfied were you with the service provided 
by the handyperson? 

Page 46



 13 

 

Of the 384 respondents who answered this question; 

 355 (92%) of respondents said they would be very upset if the service was 
taken away 

 29 (7%) said they would not be too bothered or wouldn’t mind at all.  
 

 
 

406 respondents answered question 6 relating to the potential contribution of users 

of the service of which; 

 39% (158) responded that they would be willing to contribute between £0 and 
£4.99 per hour 

 27% (108) responded that they would be willing to contribute between £5 and 
9.99 per hour 

355

21

8

48

432

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500

Would be very upset

Not too bothered

Wouldn’t mind at all

Left the question unanswered

Total

Question 5: What would your response be if the council 
decided to remove the handyperson service?

£0.00- £4.99 £5.00 - £9.99 £10.00- £20.00
People willing to
pay whatever it

costs

People unsure
how much to pay

per hour

People who left
the question

unanswered or
blank

525 158 108 110 14 16 119

39%

27% 27%

3% 4%

29%

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Question 6: How much are you willing to contribute for the 
handyperson service per hour? 

Page 47



 14 

 27% (110) responded that they would be willing to contribute between £10 and 
£20 per hour 

 3% (14) responded that they would be willing to pay whatever the cost of the 
service was 

10.3  
10.4 4% (16) responded that they were unsure of how much to pay per 

hour  

11  

12 Last years’ outturn shows the cost of providing the handyperson per hour is £36.00 
(excluding overheads). 

 

 

 Just under a third of all responders left the question of contributions per job 

blank.  

 Just under a fifth of all responders said they would pay up to £5.00 per job, 

and the same again for those willing to pay between £10.00 and £20.00 per 

job.  

 19 people (3.62%) were willing to cover the costs whatever they may be, 

however, 100 responders (19%) said they would not want to contribute at all. 

 A total of 84 of all responders (16%) stated they would not want to contribute 

to either an hourly rate or per job rate. 

19.62%

9.9%
19.62%

2.67% 1.52% 0.38%
3.62% 2.1%

4.76% 3.43%

32.38%

0

50

100

150

200

1

Question 7: How much are you willing to contribute for the 
handyperson service per job? (525)

£0.00- £4.99 = 103
£5.00 - £9.99 = 52
£10.00- £20.00 = 103
£20.00- £30.00 = 14
£30.00- £50.00 = 8
£50.00 + = 2
People willing to pay whatever it costs = 19
People willing to pay a percentage of the cost = 11
Depends on per job = 25
People unsure how much to pay per hour = 18
People who left the question unanswered or blank = 170

Page 48



 15 

 The average amount people were willing to pay for the service was £20.00 

per job. The average cost of a job provided by the handyperson service 

amounted to £37.27 based on 15/16 outturns (plus corporate overheads). 

 

 

 

234 responders indicated that they would pay for other jobs to be done by 

handypersons but did not give precise details of the service they wanted. The most 

commonly requested assistance currently not provided through the handypersons 

service is decorating, followed closely by minor electrical works. Some other local 

authorities do offer these services.    

 

 

Job Percentage Number 

Other 45% 234 

Decorating 43% 223 

Minor Electrics  38% 198 

Hedge Trimming 32% 168 

Clear gutters/drains 30% 157 

Garden Clearance 29% 150 

Half- yearly lawn mowing 14% 73 

Clear Loft space 9% 46 

 

Respondents who indicated they would be willing to pay  for other repairs chose minor 

plumbing and odd jobs round the house such as clearing blockages to toilet/sinks as 

the most popular job types.  

157

46

198

223

150

73

168

234

0 50 100 150 200 250

Clear gutters/drains

Clear loft space

Minor electrics

Decorating

Garden Clearance

Half- yearly lawn mowing

Hedge Trimming

Other

Question 8: What other repairs would you consider paying for?

525

Page 49



 16 

17% who had used the service before, compared to 16% of all responders, said they 

would not be willing to pay for any of the above jobs. 

 

 

 

Of all 525 respondents; 

 70% were female 

 18% were male  

 12% left the question answered. 
 
Of those who had used the service before 85% were female, whilst 15% were males.  

The age group of the respondents varied from 23 up to 97.  

 32% of respondents were aged 70-79 

367

93

65

525

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Female Respondents = 367

Males Respondents = 93

Unanswered = 65

Total

Demographics - Gender   

2

3

14

36

95

169

120

29

57

525

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Age 20-29 = 2

Age 30-39 = 3

Ages 40-49 = 14

Ages 50-59 = 36

Ages 60-69 = 95

Ages 70-79 = 169

Ages 80-89 = 120

Age 90+ = 29

Left question unanswered = 57

Total = 525

Demographics - Age 

Page 50



 17 

 23% were aged 80-89  

 18% were aged 60-69  

 7% were aged 50-59  

 5% were 90 or older 

 4% were aged 50 and younger  
 
The remaining 11% did not answer this question. 

 

Of all 525 respondents;  

 56% (295) considered themselves to have a disability 

 27% (143) declared they were free of any disability  

 13% (87) left the question unanswered.  
 

Of those who did consider themselves to have a disability, almost three quarters were 

female. The highest proportion of respondents who considered themselves to have a 

disability were those aged 70-79 accounting for 35% of the respondents. Of the 295 

who considered themselves to have a disability, 41% (120) stated poor mobility or 

arthritis as their disability.  

 

 

Of the overall 525 respondents; 

295

143

22

65

525

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Yes - 295

No - 143

Prefer not to say - 22

Left the question unanswered - 65

Total

Demographics - Disability 

391

71

1 62

525

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Yes - 391

No - 71

Prefer not to say - 1

Left the question unanswered - 62

Total

Demographics - Income (a)
Are you in receipt of a state pension? 

Page 51



 18 

 74% were in receipt of a state pension 

 14% were not in receipt of a state pension  

 12% left the question unanswered.  
 

A total of 17% of the respondents who considered themselves to have a disability were 

in receipt of a state pension and received an illness related benefit.  

 

Of all respondents;  

 56% did not receive an illness related benefit 

 30% did receive an illness related benefit 

 14% left the question unanswered.  
 

Of those who did receive an illness related benefit 70% were female and of the 452 

who answered the question, 29% considered themselves to have a disability but did 

not receive an illness related benefit.  

160

292

73

525

Yes

No

Unanswered

Total

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Demographics - Income (b)
Do you receive an illness related benefit? 

Page 52



 19 

 
 

 
The above chart captures the ethnicity recorded by respondents to the consultation. 

 
Of those using the service who responded;  
 

 262 (61%) were White 

 97 (22%) were Black 

 9 (2%) were Asian 

 (3%) were of mixed heritage 

 10 (2%) were from another ethnic origin 

 42 (10%) left this question blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 58 2 30

290

20 10 5 2 2 2 1 1 8 1 1 2 7 1

68

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Demographics - Ethnicity
525

Page 53



 20 

 
 
 

Page 54



Housing Select Committee 

Title Update on Additional Licensing Scheme 

Key decision No Item no 7 

Wards All 

Contributors Executive Director for Customer Services 

Class Part 1 7 March 2017 

 

1 Purpose of report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Housing Select Committee on the 
implementation of the additional licensing scheme which was approved by Mayor 
and Cabinet on 2 March 2016. 

2 Recommendations 
 

2.1 It is recommended that Housing Select Committee note the contents of the 
report. 

3 Background 
 

3.1 The Additional Licensing Scheme was first discussed, on a formal basis, in a 
paper to Mayor and Cabinet on 3 February 2014. During the subsequent two 
years the details of the scheme were explored and various pieces of research 
were reviewed, and the final proposals were set before Mayor and Cabinet on 2 
March 2016. The scheme was subsequently approved and the fees set by the 
Licensing Supplementary Committee on 22 March 2016. 

 

3.2 On 29 June 2016 the public notice for the scheme was printed in the local press. 
This notice was due to expire on 22 September 2016 and the scheme commence 
on 23 September 2016. At the beginning of September we received a challenge 
to the publication of the public notice. Following investigations and clarification 
with our legal department it was felt prudent to clarify with Mayor and Cabinet 
the exact designation for the scheme. 

 
3.3 On 9 November 2016 publication of the scheme then proceeded as per the 

requirements of the statutory instrument applicable to this specific piece of 
legislation. The scheme went live on 11 February 2017.  

4 Summary 
 

4.1 Lewisham currently has 220 mandatory licences for those properties that are 
three storeys or more, with two or more lettings where 5 or more non-related 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



people share facilities such as bathrooms or kitchens. It is estimated that there 
are over 500 of these types of dwellings known as mandatory Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) in the borough. 

 
4.2 Housing Select Committee were made aware that the potential for finding the 

poorest standards of accommodation in the borough would be found in smaller 
HMOs located above commercial properties where there are two or more lettings 
with 3 or more unrelated people sharing facilities such as kitchens or bathrooms. 
The estimate of numbers put forward for this type of small HMO is 1400.  

 
4.3 As at 22 February 2017, 29 landlords have completed the additional licence 

application. 

5 Operations 
 
5.1 During the implementation stage of the new additional licensing scheme a 

number of activities have taken place in order to ensure as many licences as 
possible are applied for and these are briefly noted below. 

6 Communications and Advertising 
 

6.1 Throughout the period of preparation and publication of notice an extensive 
communications campaign was undertaken to promote the new scheme to 
Landlords, Tenants, Local Letting Agents and other interested parties in the 
Borough. This involved a series of nearly 9,000 e-mails and letters being sent 
out between August 2016 and February 2017.  

 
6.2 In addition, a bus stop advertising campaign was run in October 2017 and a till 

receipt campaign with Argos and Poundland was run from November to date.  
 

6.3 A simple enquiry form has been added to the website enabling landlords to 
register their details with us if they are unsure if they need a licence for their 
property. To date 210 landlords have registered with us via this mechanism. 

7 On-Line application process 
 

7.1 In preparation for the launch of the new scheme development of an on-line 
application form was designed to speed up the process of applying for a licence 
for both the applicant and the council. The previous paper version process was 
cumbersome with landlords often citing forms being sent but lost in transit. The 
original profiling of the scheme anticipated that some 500 applications would 
likely be made in the first year of operation and as such a more streamlined 
procedure would be needed to cater for this increase in demand. 

 
7.2 The on-line application process was completed ahead of schedule and has been 

fully operational since October 2016.  

8 Procedural changes 
 
8.1 Operational procedures were changed following benchmark visits to other 

authorities. The most significant change in operational procedure was in relation 

Page 56



to when the required information about the licensable property was collected.  
 
8.2 Visits are required on each application to establish that the required conditions 

have been met.  
 

8.3 Prior to the online application process, information such as gas certificates or 
electrical and fire safety certificates was collected at the time of the visit and prior 
to issue of the licence. This requirement has changed whereby the applicant now 
confirms on line that they have the necessary certificates, the licence is issued 
at this point and a visit is then scheduled to inspect the property to inspect that 
the property is in good order and to verify that the necessary certificates are in 
place. This change streamlines the process for applications and helps inform the 
onward process of enforcement for failure to licence correctly.  

9 System improvements 
 
9.1 The current system, M3, has been reviewed to ensure new processes are 

embedded, modules have been developed that will improve information collation 
and historical information will be correctly recoded. These changes will ensure 
that activity levels and outcomes will be more accurately reflected. Further 
enhancements to modules to record enforcement activity are underway and due 
for completion by the end of March 2017. 

10 Data 
 
10.1 Much of the data relied upon to target landlords of HMOs is provided through HB 

and Council Tax records. We have used this information to send letters to 
landlords however these landlords may not be landlords of HMOs so it has been 
necessary to undertake on-site inspections to verify that properties are in fact 
HMOs and are not single dwellings. 

 
10.2 We are also reviewing a list of 900 self-declared HMOs from the council tax list 

and sending formal notices to these landlords to confirm the status of these 
properties. 

 
10.3 The team have also knocked on over 700 doors within the identified hotspots to 

find possible HMOs.  

11 Outcomes 
 

11.1 The team has knocked on over 700 doors within the identified hotspot areas. 
This has resulted in 13 properties that require an HMO licence being identified 
along with several properties where breaches of conditions of current licences 
have taken place and action is currently being taken against these landlords.  

 

11.2 A recent raid was carried out where overcrowding and poor living conditions were 
found. Officers have also successfully negotiated with two other landlords 
resulting in landlord compliance avoiding costly legal proceedings. There are 
currently two more raids being planned. 

 

Page 57



11.3 To date 29 landlords have completed the online application form for the 
additional scheme along with 17 for the mandatory scheme.  

 

11.4 We are currently engaged with 100 landlords regarding applications for the 
scheme and will be commencing formal enforcement action against those 
landlords that have stated they require a licence but have yet to apply 

 

11.5 There has been significant progress in investigating rogue landlords. 15 
landlords were originally identified. These landlords have been further 
investigated to establish current ownership, management and any financial 
irregularities. Following inspections to individual lettings relevant documentation 
required to meet licence conditions was obtained. Officers carried out full 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) assessments on all 57 
properties associated with these landlords/lettings agents which resulted in 
repairs being carried out immediately or the service of enforcement notices to 
improve conditions of the properties. If landlords fail to cooperate we will 
prosecute. Because of the increased enforcement action that has taken place 
over recent months the number on the list has been reduced. Further 
investigations are in progress on the 5 remaining landlords. We are currently 
investigating new landlords that have come to our attention through complaints 
or our door knocking exercise where similar behaviour has been identified. We 
aim to work with these landlords in the spirit of cooperation however will take 
formal enforcement action when necessary using all legal remedies that are 
available under the Housing Act 2004 and we are exploring further our 
obligations under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

12 Associated activities 
 
12.1 Lewisham is taking part in the London Office of Data Analytics pilot (LODA) which 

has been commissioned by the GLA to help build a predictive model designed to 
help with the early identification of HMOs. This involves reviewing data from the 
council on issues such as the current list of licensed land lords, complaints, 
notices and inspections.  

 
12.2 The team has participated in two recent consultations from DCLG: The first was 

in relation to extending the regulations of the current mandatory HMO licensing 
scheme which was sent to Housing Select Committee in December 2016. The 
implication of this extension the regulation would result in small HMOs 
throughout the borough having to be licensed which would impact on those small 
HMOs such as those that are found in the Bellingham and Downham areas. The 
second was a much simpler and shorter consultation with the focus on what 
constituted a banning offence which is already covered within the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 and would mean landlords and lettings agents would be 
banned in certain circumstance to hold or manage HMOs. Other change that will 
be brought about by this act is the need for the authority to provide central 
government with information on rogue landlords. Also enhancements have been 
made in relation to rent repayment orders with authorities expected to apply for 
these whenever an offence under the Criminal Law Act 1977; Protection from 
Eviction Act 1997; Housing Act 2004 and Housing & Planning act 2016 is 
committed.  Work is currently underway to ensure that these changes are 

Page 58



captured in our policy and procedures to enable the team to act using the new 
powers conferred upon them.  

 
12.3 To further raise awareness of the boroughs’ licensing schemes, the team have 

a landlord event planned for the early part of the next financial year this will also 
help to build meaningful working relationships with landlords, landlord 
associations and letting agents in the area. 

13 Financial implications 
 

13.1 On the 13 January 2016 the Mayor approved the additional licensing scheme at 
a cost of £1.0m over five years. 

 

13.2 The funding in the current financial year has been used to fund the setting up 
costs and the appointment of staff in readiness for the scheme going live in 
February of this year. 

 

13.3 It is too early to assess the financial impact of the scheme. This will be monitored 
and reported as a part of the Council’s financial monitoring processes. 

14 Legal implications 
 

14.1 In addition to the legal points noted within the body of the Report, reference is 
being made above to the recent Housing and Planning Act 2016 (“HPA”). 

 

14.2 The HPA received royal assent on 12th May 2016.  Whilst a number of provisions 
within the Act are now in force, the parts of the Act, which are pertinent to the 
context of this report, in so far as they cover powers available to Local Authorities 
to address issues under the given statutory heading of ‘Rogue Landlords and 
Property Agents in London”, (and are specifically within Parts 2 & 3 of the HPA,) 
are not in fact yet in force.  

 

14.3 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the 
equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

14.4 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 
to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 

14.5 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of 

Page 59



opportunity or foster good relations between persons who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need 
to achieve the goals listed above.  

 

14.6 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the 
decision and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, 
bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must 
understand the impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected 
characteristics who are potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the 
duty will necessarily vary from case to case and due regard is such regard as is 
appropriate in all the circumstances. 

 

14.7 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on 
the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 
2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The 
Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty 
and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality 
duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to 
meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but 
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling 
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical 
guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-
guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-
technical-guidance  
 

14.8 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 

Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 

Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 

Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 

Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 
 

14.9 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It 
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are 
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents 
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. 
Further information and resources are available at:  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-
sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1 

Page 60

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


15 Crime and disorder implications 
 

15.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications 

16 Equalities implications 
 

16.1 An Equalities Analysis Assessment has been carried out for the March 2016 
report and there are no significant changes 

17 Environmental implications 
 

17.1 There are no environmental implications. 

18 Conclusion 
 

18.1 Whilst the scheme has not received the anticipated number of applications and 
as a result the finances have had to be adjusted to rephrase the scheme it is 
hoped that as enforcement action increases so landlords will become more 
compliant with the new requirements and apply for an additional licence. 

19 Background documents and originator 
 

19.1 If you require further information about this report please contact Antoinette 
Stasaitis on 0208 314 9340 or Andy Grant on 0208 314 9248.  

 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

HOUSING SELECT COMMITTEE 

Title Annual Lettings Plan 2017/18 

Key decision Yes Item no 8 

Wards All 

Contributors Executive Director for Customer Services, Head of 
Law 

Class Part 1 7 March 2017 

 
 
1. Summary and Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The Annual Lettings Plan sets out how the Council intends to allocate the lettings 

that become available to it in 2017/18. This covers properties which become 
available from the Council’s own homes and those of other providers such as 
Housing Associations where the Council has nomination rights.  
 

1.2 It is projected that the number of properties which will become available to let in 
17/18 will be 1,142. The long-term trend in the reduction in the number of re-lets 
is projected to continue, with 842 properties forecast to become available for re-
letting. Since 2011/12, the number of relets available has reduced by over 50%. 
This ongoing reduction in relets is offset by the almost 300 new social and 
affordable rent new builds expected to become available in 2017/18.  

 
1.3 The aims of the Annual Lettings Plan remain to distribute the lettings available 

to those in most need, to reduce households in unsuitable and costly temporary 
accommodation, to reduce under occupation and severe overcrowding, to move 
single vulnerable households on from supported accommodation to 
independence and to support the regeneration of designated housing estates.  

 
1.4 In the last five years, the number of households in temporary accommodation 

has increased by 90% whereas there has been a 44% reduction in available lets 
in the same period Therefore it is proposed to continue to keep the increased 
number of lettings to homeless households to help to manage the increase in 
accepted homeless applications and reduced supply. 

  
1.5 This report also presents the final lettings outcomes for 2015/16 and the position 

for the first nine months of 2016/17 (1st April ’16 to 31st December ‘16).  It also 
shows the current demand position on the housing register. This reflects 
performance in supply and demand management since April 2016 and informs 
the proposed lettings plan for 2016/17. 

 

2.  Policy Context 
 

Page 63

Agenda Item 8



 2 

2.1  The contents of this report are consistent with the Council’s policy framework. It 
supports the achievements of the Sustainable Community Strategy policy 
objectives: 
 

 Ambitious and achieving: where people are inspired and supported to fulfil 
their potential.  

 

  Empowered and responsible: where people can be actively involved in their 
local area and contribute to tolerant, caring and supportive local 
communities.  

 

   Healthy, active and enjoyable: where people can actively participate in 
maintaining and improving their health and well-being, supported by high 
quality health and care services, leisure, culture and recreational activities. 

 

2.2   The proposed recommendations are also in line with the Council policy priorities: 
 

 Strengthening the local economy – gaining resources to regenerate key 
localities, strengthen employment skills and promote public transport. 

 

 Clean, green and liveable – improving environmental management, the 
cleanliness and care for roads and pavements and promoting a sustainable 
environment 

 
3. Recommendations 

 
Housing Select Committee is recommended to: 
 

3.1 Note the lettings outcomes for 2015/16 and 2016/17 and the position on the 
housing register. 

 
3.2 Note the proposed Lettings Plan for 2017/18 set out in Appendix 1 of this 

report. 
   

4. Background 
 
4.1 Housing Allocations schemes are governed by legislation which requires 

housing authorities to determine and publish a lettings scheme setting out how 
it will prioritise applications for social housing. It is a requirement that certain 
groups are given “reasonable preference” within the policy.  These groups are: 
 

 People who are homeless 

 Those living in unsatisfactory housing, e.g. overcrowded or lacking amenities 

 Those who need to move on medical grounds 

 Those who need to move to a particular locality within the district where it 
would cause hardship if they were unable to do so 

 Those owed a duty under other relevant legislation such as a prohibition 
order on a property. 

 
4.2 Allocation policies must give preference to these groups above others.  There is 

no requirement to give an equal weighting to all of the reasonable preference 
categories.  

Page 64



 3 

  

4.3 A key element of the allocations scheme is the Annual Lettings Plan which 
should be agreed by Members each year. This outlines the distribution between 
applicants with differing needs of the supply of lettings expected over the coming 
year.   

  
4.4 Five priority areas have been identified for the plan, as listed below in no 

particular order: 
 

 Homeless households in temporary accommodation – in order to sustain the 
numbers in temporary accommodation at a manageable level, and manage 
the pressures from homeless demand as a result of ongoing welfare reform 
and housing market conditions. 

 Decants – based on projected need from schemes due to go on site 
imminently, in order to ensure schemes start on time and the council 
maximises the benefit from funding secured for current regeneration 
schemes 

 Under-occupation – a national priority, there are a high number of under 
occupiers registered which has increased largely due to the spare room 
subsidy.  The Trading Places project team has been working with Registered 
Housing Providers to identify other ways to reduce the levels of under-
occupation in social housing stock. 

 Severe overcrowding (2 bedrooms or more) – a key local and national priority  

 Move-on from supported housing schemes – moving vulnerable households 
into independent homes and to free up supported housing bed spaces for 
those with support needs waiting for accommodation 
 

4.5 The annual lettings plan for 16/17 projected that 901 properties would become 
available to let. Current projections estimate that the final number of lets for 
16/17 will be higher than this at just over 1,050, including new build units. In 
15/16 there were 1,267 lets made in the year.   

 
4.8 The Mayor of London launched the ‘Housing Moves’ pan-London mobility 

scheme in May 2012.  Lewisham continues to actively participate.  Lewisham’s 
contribution for 16/17 is 61 lets across 1-3 bedroom units.  To date Lewisham 
has offered 24 properties and has successfully let 8 properties, Lewisham’s 
contribution for 16/17 is reduced due to the equalisation of lets across boroughs.  

 
4.9 Participation in this scheme offers an opportunity for Lewisham applicants to 

obtain the same number of lets to properties elsewhere in London.  There is no 
net loss in available lettings to Lewisham applicants.  Priorities for moves include 
employment and under-occupation, which are also key priorities for Lewisham.   

 
5. Lettings Outcomes 2015/16 and 2016/17 
 
5.1  A summary of the main outturn results in lettings is shown below.   Full details 

are provided in Appendices 2 & 3. 
 
 

 2012/13 2013/14  2014/15 2015/16  
 

2016/17 
YTD 

Projected 
2016/17 

Page 65



 4 

General 
needs 
lets 

1408 1119 996 1172 550* 965 

Special 
lets  

345 286 152 95 46 79 

Housing 
moves 

6 11 10 12 10 10 

Total lets 1,759  1,416 1,158 1,279 606 1,054 

  
 *Not including properties that are approved to let 
  
5.2 The projected outturn for 2016/17 is 1,054 which is 17% below the previous year 

and represents over 800 fewer units (44%) than were available in 2010/11. 
 
5.3 An analysis of the overall percentage of lettings to each band shows the 

following:  
  

 Actual % of lets 
15/16  

Percentage of lets 
Apr – Dec ’16  

Percentage of lets 
16/17 target 

Band 1 14.4% 18.0% 21.8% 

Band 2 22.0% 25.6% 18.5% 

Band 3 55.3% 47.2% 50.0% 

Special lets 7.4% 7.6% 8.4% 

Housing Moves 0.9% 1.7% 1.2% 

  
 Note that special lets includes sheltered lets and disabled units 
 
5.3 The large number of lets to band 3 is attributed to 80% of two beds and 70% of 

three beds being offered to households in temporary accommodation who are 
band 3 priority, in line with the priority to reduce the number of homeless 
households in temporary accommodation.  

 
5.4 Decants are broadly performing to target:   
  

Scheme Households 
moved via 
CBL 

Direct 
matched  

Heathside & Lethbridge 25 21 

Excalibur 8 0 

Milford Towers 2 0 

Deptford 0 0 

Individual decants N/A N/A 

Total 36 21 

 
Decanting tenants who are ‘direct matched’ are not included in the final outturn 
figures as they are not moved via Choice Based Letting. 

 
5.5 An analysis of waiting times for lettings broken down by the various categories 

of need is shown at Appendix 4 and 5. The average time on the housing register 
for successful applicants has increased since 2015/16, from an average waiting 
time of 99.2 weeks in 15/16 to 104.3 weeks in 16/17 to date. 

Page 66



 5 

 
5.9 Almost 67,000 bids were made in 2015/16 whereas almost 65,000 bids have 

been made in 2016/17 to date. There has been a substantial increase in the 
number of bids that are made per property, as is shown by the below table. 

 
  

Number of Bedrooms 15/16 16/17 YTD 

Studio 2.7 7.0 

1 Bed 7.5 17.9 

2 Bed 66.7 116.6 

3 Bed 69.6 112.0 

4 Bed+ 66.8 70.4 

 
5.10 There are currently just under 9,500 households on the Housing Register, of 

which 8,756 households have been on for over 6 months. Over 4,800 
households have made a bid for a property in 2016/17 to date. The average 
number of bids per household during this period was 13. 

 
 6. Proposed Plan for 2017/18 
 
6.1 The Lettings Plan proposed is set out at Appendix 1. It projects a decrease in 

the number of relets expected to become available in 2017/18 based on the 
trend across recent years. This is offset by the expected number of affordable 
and social rent new builds which are expected to be completed this year. It is 
anticipated that 1,057 properties will be available for let during the course of the 
year. 

  
6.2 It should be noted that the continued increased percentage of lettings to 

households in the homeless priority group will impact on the number of lettings 
available to the other four priority groups. However this is mitigated by achieving 
the aim of reducing the number of households in temporary accommodation. 

 
6.3 The remaining lettings not targeted to priority homeless have been spread 

across the other priority bands to ensure that rehousing opportunities are 
allocated to those in the highest need. Groups in these bands who will benefit 
from the remaining lets include emergency cases (e.g. those we agreed to move 
as a result of violence) care leavers, homeless prevention, medical needs and 
households who are overcrowded by one bedroom. 

 
6.4 The housing register at the end of December 2016 had 9,449 households 

registered.  Between April 2016 and December 2016, 797 properties were 
advertised to let, almost 100 less properties than in the same period in 2015. 
The number of properties available to let continues to reduce and the number of 
households on the Housing Register continues to increase, showing the extent 
to which demand outweighs supply. 

 
6.5 There are 781 households registered in band 1 as under occupiers, this is a 

decrease of 10 from last year.    The Trading Places Team continues to work 
with this group in order to release larger homes supporting the Housing Strategy.  
This remains a key priority for 2017/18 and the Trading Places Team are utilising 
other options to obtain moves such as facilitating mutual exchange moves and 

Page 67



 6 

chain lettings.  The table below represents properties released via the Trading 
Places Team and the size property they moved to. 

 

 Bed size moved to 
Total 

Moves 

Bed 

Size  released 
1 2 3 4+  

2 16    16 

3 14 10   24 

4+ 2 5 4 0 11 

Total 32 15 4 0 51 

 
6.6 This year the team continued supporting tenants both generally under occupying 

and those affected by the bedroom tax.  The intensive support work carried out 
by the team has meant that out of the 51 tenants moved, 27 are no longer 
affected by the bedroom tax and as such are no longer at such a high risk of 
eviction. 

 
6.7 The team has also facilitated a series of chain lettings.  Specifically, 16 two 

bedroom properties released have been advertised as preference to decant or 
homeless households, helping to alleviate the large numbers of homeless 
families in temporary accommodation.  5 larger sized properties have all been 
advertised as preference to overcrowded tenants which has worked to tackle 
both the issues of overcrowding within the borough as well as the lack of general 
supply and relets. 

 
6.8 Trading Places continued to work effectively with Housing Benefit and the 

different housing providers around the more effective use of the discretionary 
housing payment budget and will continue to provide support to those tenants 
affected by the bedroom tax who are actively seeking to downsize.  The project 
is currently supporting 191 tenants to move; 95 of which are affected by the 
bedroom tax and who are reliant on the continuous support provided by the team 
to ensure a move to a smaller, more affordable home.  

 
6.9 There are currently 195 cases registered with a decant need.  As the council’s 

major regeneration schemes on Excalibur, Heathside & Lethbridge, Milford 
Towers, and Deptford continue to progress a percentage of lets will need to be 
made available to this client group. 
 

6.10 Move on within the supported housing pathway remains a core priority for 
Lewishams single homeless intervention team and other supported providers. 
The supported housing move-on nominations are an integral part of the move 
on from the pathway and in preventing homeless applications within the single 
homeless cohort. They also enable the council and partners to much better 
manage the flow of people through supported housing and other pathways. 
These properties are currently the only form of move on from the Supported 

Page 68



 7 

Housing Pathway, of which there are currently over 530 units of accommodation. 
 
6.11 Nominations are being used to support quicker hospital discharge and better 

health outcomes for those within the mental health supported housing cohort. 
This facilitates a reduction in the number using expensive registered care 
placements and helps to “de-silt” these schemes. This is being project managed 
by the Mental Health Trust in collaboration with Housing. As part of a wide-
ranging review commissioned by the Council and conducted by SITRA, an 
additional c.300 units of Mental Health accommodation will be made available 
as part of the Mental Health pathway and will be accessed via the local authority. 

 
6.12 The use of supported housing pathways and initiatives such as housing first 

forms a key part of the Councils efforts to address the rising number of rough 
sleepers in the borough. 

 
6.13 The young person’s pathway has been expanded with another 25 units to 

accommodate the number of young people approaching for support. 
 
6.14 There were 123 lets to supported housing move on cases in 2015/16, and there 

are currently 57 supported housing move on clients on the Housing Register. 
 
6.15 452 households that were on the housing register as at the end of December 

2016 lack two or more bedrooms, a slight increase from December 2015 where 
there were 446 such households on the register. 31 seriously overcrowded 
households moved between April 2016 and December 2016, representing a 
48% decrease on the same period in 2015. A total of 69 seriously overcrowded 
properties moved in 2015/16. Targets will continue to be set for this group in 
2016/17 as it remains a priority area.  Trading Places are continuing to facilitate 
chain lets; three bedroom properties released via the scheme are advertised 
with preference to overcrowded households. 

 
6.16 The GLA have calculated that Lewisham will be required to contribute 51 

properties to the Housing Moves scheme in 2017/18. The breakdown of units is 
outlined below. 

 
 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL 

1-beds 4 4 4 4 16 

2-beds 6 6 6 6 24 

3-beds 3 3 2 3 11 

TOTAL 13 13 12 13 51 

 
6.17 There were 1,814 households in temporary accommodation at the end of 

December 2016, an increase of 53% compared to March 2013 and a 4% 
increase on the number of households in temporary accommodation at the end 
of March 2016. 

 
6.18 Whilst the number of households in temporary accommodation has increased 

compared to March 2016, the number of households in Nightly Paid 
accommodation has decreased by 8% over this period. This reflects the positive 
effect of an ongoing focus on prevention work, increased lettings to this priority 
group and the expansion of the temporary accommodation portfolio. The below 
table shows the trend in numbers in Temporary Accommodation and Nightly 

Page 69



 8 

Paid accommodation throughout the course of 2016. 
 
 

 
                     

    
6.19 The production of a detailed Lettings Plan, targeting a range of priorities in each 

band is a more proactive and focused way of addressing lettings priorities.  It is 
however, administratively intensive and requires ongoing monthly monitoring of 
performance against targets in order to ensure that targets within the plan are 
reached.  A half year review of progress against the lettings plan targets will be 
undertaken and will be reported back to the Housing Select Committee and 
Mayor & Cabinet thereafter if changes to the plan are required.     

 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are significant costs associated with housing generally, including 

managing the allocations service, managing the provision of council housing and 
providing services to those experiencing homelessness or the threat of 
homelessness. All of these are affected over time by the demand for housing. 
The lettings plan is merely the means by which that demand is allocated to 
existing properties. As such, changes to the plan do not have direct financial 
implications. 

 
7.2 Council regeneration schemes are currently performing successfully.  It is worth 

noting, however, that the Council’s financial plans in respect of these schemes 
are dependent on the timely and effective operation of decant programmes and 
any delays in such programmes would have a negative impact on those plans. 

 
8. Legal Implications 

 
8.1 Section 159(1) of the Housing Act 1996 requires a local authority to comply with 

Part 6 of the Act (sections 159 to 174) in allocating housing accommodation.  
Section 159(7) provides that “subject to the provisions of this Part, a local 

1620
1640
1660
1680
1700
1720
1740
1760
1780
1800
1820
1840

460

480

500

520

540

560

580

0
1

/0
1

/2
0

1
6

2
9

/0
1

/2
0

1
6

2
8

/0
2

/2
0

1
6

0
1

/0
4

/2
0

1
6

2
9

/0
4

/2
0

1
6

2
7

/0
5

/2
0

1
6

0
1

/0
7

/2
0

1
6

2
9

/0
7

/2
0

1
6

2
6

/0
8

/2
0

1
6

3
0

/0
9

/2
0

1
6

2
8

/1
0

/2
0

1
6

0
2

/1
2

/2
0

1
6

3
0

/1
2

/2
0

1
6

39 43 47 52 4 8 13 17 21 26 30 35 39 H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
s 

in
 T

em
p

o
ra

ry
 A

cc
o

m
m

o
d

at
io

n

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
s 

in
 N

ig
h

tl
y 

P
ai

d

Week Ending

Temporary Accommodation & Nightly Paid

Numbers in Nightly Paid Numbers in Temporary Accommodation

Page 70



 9 

housing authority may allocate housing accommodation in such manner as they 
consider appropriate.” Section 169 provides that, when exercising their functions 
under Part 6 of the 1996 Act, as amended by the 2002 Homelessness Act, local 
housing authorities “shall have regard to such guidance as may be given by the 
Secretary of State" when carrying out their role in allocating social housing.   

 
8.2  In compliance with section 166A (of the 1996 Act,) Lewisham Housing Authority 

has a scheme (Allocations Policy), “… for determining priorities…” which sets 
out the procedure to be followed  when allocating housing accommodation. 

8.3 The ‘Allocation of accommodation; guidance for local housing authorities in 
England’ was published on 29th June 2012. It replaced all previous guidance on 
social housing allocations. It expressly aims to assist local housing authorities to 
take advantage of the provisions within the Localism Act 2011. It also 
encourages authorities to make use of the existing flexibilities within the 
allocation legislation to ensure that social homes are allocated to people who 
are deemed to need and  deserve them the most, such as “hard working” 
families and members of the Armed Forces. Further Guidance, namely 
“Providing social housing for local people” [Statutory guidance on social housing 
allocations for local authorities in England ] was published in December 2013  

 
8.4 The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number of significant amendments to Part 

6 of the 1996 Act. Of particular relevance here are the following provisions: 
Section 160ZA was inserted by the Localism Act 2011.  It established the 
concept of the qualifying person. Social housing may only be allocated to 
‘qualifying persons’ and housing authorities are given the power to determine 
what classes of persons are or are not qualified to be allocated Housing 
(s.160ZA(6) and (7)).  

 
8.5 Section 166A requires housing authorities in England to allocate 

accommodation in accordance with a scheme which must be framed to ensure 
that certain categories of applicants are given reasonable preference for an 
allocation of social housing. Section 166A(9) includes a new requirement for an 
allocation scheme to give a right to review a decision on qualification in 
s.160AZ(9), and to inform such affected persons of the decision on the review 
and the grounds for it. This is in addition to the existing right to review a decision 
on eligibility.  

 
8.6 Section 166A(12) provides that housing authorities must have regard to both 

their homelessness and tenancy strategies when framing their allocation 
scheme.   The requirement for an allocation scheme to contain a statement of 
the authority’s policy on offering a choice of accommodation or the opportunity 
to express preferences about  their accommodation is retained. (s.166A(2)). 
However, the requirement to provide a copy of this statement to people to whom 
they owe a homelessness duty (under s.193(3A) or s.195(3A) of the 1996 Act) 
is repealed by s.148(2) and s.149(3) of the Localism Act 2011.  This is because, 
following the changes to the main homelessness duty made by the Localism Act 
2011, there can no longer be a presumption that the homelessness duty will be 
brought to an end in most cases with an allocation under Part 6.  

 
 8.7 The European Convention on Human Rights states in Article 8 that “Everyone 

has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and 

Page 71



 10 

correspondence”. The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporates the Convention.  
Whilst it does not, however, mean that everyone has a right to a home, the 
provision by an Authority of a relevant proactive Allocations Policy and Lettings 
Plan does assist to reinforce the Article 8 principles. 

 
 
8.8 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine protected characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
8.9  In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard 

to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 
8.10 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached 

to it is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to advance equality of 
opportunity or foster good relations. 

 
8.11  The Equality and Human Rights Commission issued Technical Guidance on 

the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 
2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of 
Practice”.  The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it 
relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly 
with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public 
authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally 
required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does not have 
statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so 
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and 
the technical guidance can be found at:  
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-
act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/ 

 
8.12 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued 

five guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  
 

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  
3. Engagement and the equality duty 
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty 

  5. Equality information and the equality duty 
 

8.13 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements 
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. 
It covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that 

Page 72

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-and-policy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/


 11 

are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four 
documents provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good 
practice. Further information and resources are available at: 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-
equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/ 

 
9. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
9.1 The allocations scheme recognises the importance of housing in responding to 

the needs of victims of crime who can be awarded emergency priority where 
their life is in danger and their case is supported by the police.  These include 
applicants under the witness protection program. Furthermore, the scheme 
contributes to reducing offending and awards priority for offenders (dependent 
upon the nature of their offence), imprisoned for over 13 weeks who relinquish 
their existing social tenancy.  

 
10. Equalities Implications 
 
10.1 An assessment of the equalities issues arising from the Lettings Plan has been 

carried out in order to comply with the council’s duties under the Equalities Act 
2010 and is appended at Appendix 8. 

 
10.2 The lettings plan priorities have generally positive impacts, and reflect the need 

to focus targets on key local and national priorities around housing need. The 
allocation of targets to each band ensures that all groups with priority under the 
allocations scheme receive a percentage of lettings. 

 
10.3 Applicants who join the housing register are asked to complete monitoring in 

relation to their gender, age, ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation and religion 
or belief.  The tables in in the attached Equality Impact Assessment show the 
ethnic profile of lettings by bedroom size for 2014/15 and 2015/16.   

 
10.4 The lettings outturn for different ethnic groups showed a similar profile to 

previous periods and there were no significant increases or reduction across 
groups.  The number of households not disclosing their ethnicity remains high.  
When implementing the new Allocation Policy in October 2012 we also 
introduced a new housing application with an updated ethnic monitoring form 
which will help us improve the data we capture. 

 
10.5 There are some negative impacts to the proposal to allocate a higher proportion 

of social housing lettings to homeless households than other priority areas, 
particularly on overcrowded households within the social sector and the private 
rented sector where applicants are predominantly from BME origins and 
applications where the lead applicant is female.  

 
10.6 However, this negative impact is balanced by the positive impact that will be 

seen on the same protected groups through the increased lettings made to 
homeless applicants who will then be moved on from temporary accommodation 
into settled housing.  

 
10.7 The production of a detailed Lettings Plan, targeting a range of priorities in each 

band is a more proactive and focused way of addressing lettings priorities.  It is 

Page 73

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/


 12 

however, administratively intensive and requires ongoing monthly monitoring of 
performance against targets in order to ensure that targets within the plan are 
reached.  A half year review of progress against the lettings plan targets will be 
undertaken and will be reported back to the Housing Select Committee and 
Mayor & Cabinet thereafter if changes to the plan are required.     

 
11. Environmental Implications 
 
11.1  There are no environmental implications. 
 
12. Background documents and originator 
 
12.1  There are no background documents associated with this report.  
 
12.2 If you require more information on this report please contact Genevieve Macklin, 

Head of Strategic Housing on 0208 314 6057. 

Page 74



 13 

Appendix 1 – Lettings Plan 2017/18 
 
 

 
Band & Rehousing 

Reason 
  

Bed Size 
Total 

 

% of 
general 

lets 

% of all 
lets 

 
0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1                 

Decant   66 68 10 6 150 16.52% 14.23% 

Un Occ High 
Demand 

  30 20 4 0 54 5.95% 5.12% 

All other band 1 0 10 8 4 1 23 2.53% 2.18% 

Total Band 1 0 106 96 18 7 227 25.00% 21.54% 

Band 2                

Overcrowded by 2 
bed or more 

0 0 4 15 10 29 3.19% 2.75% 

Supported Housing 
Move On 

30 114 2 0 0 146 16.08% 13.85% 

All other band 2 0 15 15 8   38 4.19% 3.61% 

Total Band 2 30 129 21 23 10 213 23.46% 20.21% 

Band 3           0     

Priority Homeless 6 30 210 130 15 391 43.06% 37.10% 

All other band 3 15 40 2 20 0 77 8.48% 7.31% 

Total Band 3 21 70 212 150 15 468 51.54% 44.40% 

Grand Total 51 305 329 191 32 908 100.00% 86.15% 

Special Lets 

Bed Size 

Total 
  

% of 
Special 

lets 

% of all 
lets 

0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Temp to Perm 0 5 15 7 1 28 29.47% 2.66% 

Sheltered 9 40 1 0 0 50 52.63% 4.74% 

Disabled 0 10 4 3 0 17 17.89% 1.61% 

Total Special Lets 9 55 20 10 1 95 100.00% 9.01% 

Housing Moves   16 24 11 0 51   4.84% 

Overall total lets 60 376 373 212 33 1054   100.00% 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 75



 14 

Appendix 2 - Total Lettings – 2015/16 
 

Band & Rehousing 
Reason 

Bed Size 
Grand 
Total 

% of 
General 

Lets 

% of 
Total 
Lets 0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1                 

Decant   17 7 8 1 33 2.8% 2.6% 

Emergency   1 4 3   8 0.7% 0.6% 

Exceptional Medical       1   1 0.1% 0.1% 

Leaving Care 3 39 5     47 4.0% 3.7% 

Leaving Institutions   1       1 0.1% 0.1% 

Management 
Discretion 1   4       4 0.3% 0.3% 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp   2 2 1   5 0.4% 0.4% 

Starred decant 
priority     2     2 0.2% 0.2% 

Success Too Large Pr   3       3 0.3% 0.2% 

Un Occ High 
Demand   59 17 4   80 6.8% 6.3% 

Band 1 Total 3 126 37 17 1 184 15.7% 14.4% 

Band 2                 

Homeless 
Prevention   9 63 3   75 6.4% 5.9% 

Medical High   9 1 4   14 1.2% 1.1% 

Overcrowded by 2 
bed or more     4 49 16 69 5.9% 5.4% 

Supported Housing 
Move On 39 84       123 10.5% 9.6% 

Band 2 Total 39 102 68 56 16 281 24.0% 22.0% 

Band 3                 

Former armed forces 
personnel   1       1 0.1% 0.1% 

Management 
Discretion 3   1       1 0.1% 0.1% 

Medical Low 4 46 2 1 1 54 4.6% 4.2% 

Overcrowded By 1 
Bed 3 43   29 5 80 6.8% 6.3% 

Priority Homeless 6 41 329 148 17 541 46.2% 42.3% 

Welfare 8 22       30 2.6% 2.3% 

Band 3 Total 21 154 331 178 23 707 60.3% 55.3% 

Grand Total 63 382 436 251 40 1172 100.0% 91.6% 

Special Lets 
Bed Size 

Grand 
Total 

% of 
Special 

Lets 

% of 
Total 
Lets 0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Sheltered 10 61 1     72 75.8% 5.6% 

Disabled   8 11 3 1 23 24.2% 1.8% 

Total Special Lets 10 69 12 3 1 95 100.0% 7.4% 

Housing Moves   5 4 3   12   0.9% 

Overall Total Lets 73 456 452 257 41 1279   100.0% 

  

Page 76



 15 

Appendix 3 – Total Lettings 16/17 – (1st April ‘16 – 30th December ‘16) 
 

Band & Rehousing 
Reason 

Bed Size 
Grand 
Total 

% of 
General 

Lets 

% of 
Total 
Lets 0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1                 

Decant   8 8 10 5 31 5.6% 5.1% 

Emergency   1 1 2 2 6 1.1% 1.0% 

Leaving Care   23 3     26 4.7% 4.3% 

Management 
Discretion 1   5       5 0.9% 0.8% 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp     3 1 1 5 0.9% 0.8% 

Success Too Large Pr   3       3 0.5% 0.5% 

Un Occ High Demand   18 14 1   33 6.0% 5.5% 

Band 1 Total 0 58 29 14 8 109 19.8% 18.0% 

Band 2                 

Homeless Prevention   8 15 3   26 4.7% 4.3% 

Management 
Discretion 2   2       2 0.4% 0.3% 

Medical High   3 2 5 2 12 2.2% 2.0% 

Overcrowded by 2 
bed or more     4 16 11 31 5.6% 5.1% 

Supported Housing 
Move On 13 71       84 15.3% 13.9% 

Band 2 Total 13 84 21 24 13 155 28.2% 25.7% 

Band 3                 

Improvement Order   1       1 0.2% 0.2% 

Medical Low 2 11 1     14 2.5% 2.3% 

Overcrowded By 1 
Bed 3 7   10 1 21 3.8% 3.5% 

Priority Homeless 4 15 138 65 11 233 42.4% 38.6% 

Welfare 3 14       17 3.1% 2.8% 

Band 3 Total 12 48 139 75 12 286 52.0% 47.4% 

Grand Total 25 190 189 113 33 550 100.0% 0.2% 

Special Lets 
Bed Size 

Grand 
Total 

% of 
Special 

Lets 
  

0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Sheltered 3 32 1     36 78.3% 6.0% 

Disabled   4 3 3   10 21.7% 1.7% 

Total Special Lets 3 36 4 3   46 100.0% 7.6% 

Housing Moves   3 4 1   8   1.3% 

Overall Total Lets 28 229 197 117 33 604   100.0% 

 
  

Page 77



 16 

Appendix 4 - Average waiting times based on lettings outcomes (weeks) 
2015/16 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason 
Bed Size Grand 

Total 0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1             

Decant   98.4 151.4 116.3 123.7 114.3 

Emergency   0.8 34.7 20.0   22.3 

Exceptional Medical       9.9   9.9 

Leaving Care 15.3 56.2 34.6     51.2 

Leaving Institutions   4.9       4.9 

Management Discretion 1   7.9       7.9 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp   2.1 45.6 39.7   30.1 

Starred decant priority   6.7 48.2     34.4 

Success Too Large Pr   5.9       5.9 

Un Occ High Demand   221.8 407.6 97.5   254.2 

Band 1 Average 15.3 136.0 229.3 84.1 123.7 148.1 

Band 2             

Homeless Prevention   14.3 56.7 51.8   51.4 

Management Discretion 2   3.4       3.4 

Medical High   121.1 343.3 109.4   161.2 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more     55.1 90.0 206.4 114.7 

Supported Housing Move On 7.6 12.0       10.8 

Band 2 Average 7.6 25.5 72.7 89.4 206.4 58.7 

Band 3             

Former armed forces 
personnel   33.7       33.7 

Improvement Order   44.4       44.4 

Management Discretion 3   11.1       11.1 

Medical Low 98.9 106.7 177.2 344.3 795.4 125.2 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 97.8 106.4 38.9 263.9 202.5 165.7 

Priority Homeless 51.6 45.6 92.8 109.9 136.8 94.8 

Welfare 34.5 64.4       58.1 

Band 3 Average 54.1 80.5 93.2 136.2 180.7 101.3 

Grand Total 29.7 84.5 101.9 122.3 188.9 99.2 

  

Page 78



 17 

Appendix 5 - Average waiting times based on lettings outcomes (weeks) - April 
1st 2016 – 30th December 2016 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason 
Bed Size 

Grand Total 
0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1             

Decant   180.7 140.3 155.0 137.1 155.0 

Emergency   15.1 21.7 62.1 18.2 30.4 

Leaving Care   50.5 39.0     49.2 

Management Discretion 1   37.7       37.7 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp     43.2 36.6 93.3 51.9 

Success Too Large Pr   22.6       22.6 

Un Occ High Demand   233.4 286.1 20.7   249.1 

Band 1 Average   129.1 192.5 123.7 101.9 143.4 

Band 2             

Homeless Prevention   14.6 91.7 66.6   65.1 

Management Discretion 2   78.6       78.6 

Medical High   32.3 101.4 94.6 107.3 77.6 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more     48.3 76.4 175.6 108.0 

Supported Housing Move On 6.4 8.4       8.1 

Band 2 Average 6.4 11.9 84.3 80.1 165.1 44.5 

Band 3             

Former armed forces personnel   44.6       44.6 

Improvement Order   35.1       35.1 

Medical Low 42.4 200.8 68.1     165.6 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 46.5 49.3 69.9 263.2 388.3 166.9 

Priority Homeless 140.9 19.9 120.6 123.0 176.9 117.0 

Welfare 105.7 85.7       88.3 

Band 3 Average 90.5 90.7 119.6 143.3 194.5 119.9 

Total Average 51.5 71.3 127.4 126.8 160.5 104.3 

  

Page 79



 18 

Appendix 6 - Let’s to Affordable Rent properties 2015/16 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason 
Bed Size Grand 

Total 0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1             

Decant   4 3     7 

Emergency   1   1   2 

Exceptional Medical       2   2 

Leaving Care 1 4 1     6 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp   2       2 

Un Occ High Demand   12 3 2   17 

Band 1 Total 1 23 7 5   36 

Band 2             

Homeless Prevention   2 20 1   23 

Medical High   5 2 3   10 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or 
more     1 8 6 15 

Supported Housing Move 
On 1 15       16 

Band 2 Total 1 22 23 12 6 64 

Band 3             

Medical Low   19 2     21 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed 1 10 2 4 4 21 

Priority Homeless 1 24 74 32 3 134 

Welfare   3 1     4 

Band 3 Total 2 56 79 36 7 180 

Grand Total 4 101 109 53 13 280 

  

Page 80



 19 

Appendix 7 - Let’s to Affordable Rent properties 2016/17 – (1st April 2016 to 30th 

December 2016) 

 
 

Band & Rehousing Reason 
Bed Size 

Grand Total 
0 bed 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed + 

Band 1             

Decant         1 1 

Exceptional Medical     1     1 

Leaving Care   3       3 

Retiring Lbl Tnt Emp     1     1 

Un Occ High Demand   1 1 1   3 

Band 1 Total   4 3 1 1 9 

Band 2             

Homeless Prevention   2 2 1   5 

Management Discretion 2   1       1 

Medical High   1 2 5 2 10 

Overcrowded by 2 bed or more       4 4 8 

Supported Housing Move On 1 15       16 

Band 2 Total 1 19 4 10 6 40 

Band 3             

Medical Low   2       2 

Overcrowded By 1 Bed   2 1 4 1 8 

Priority Homeless 1 9 18 14 7 49 

Band 3 Total 1 13 19 18 8 59 

Grand Total 2 36 26 29 15 108 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

Appendix 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Annual Lettings Plan 

2016-17 
 

Equalities Analysis 
Assessment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



 21 

1  Introduction 
 
1.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine protected characteristics:  age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy  and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
1.2  In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. 

 
2  Key Considerations 
 
2.1 The lettings plan priorities have generally positive impacts, and reflect the need to focus 

targets on key local and national priorities around housing need. The allocation of 
targets to each band ensures that all groups with priority under the allocations scheme 
receive a percentage of lettings. 

 
2.2 Applicants who join the housing register are asked to complete monitoring in relation to 

their gender, age, ethnicity, disability, sexual orientation and religion or belief.  The 
following tables show the ethnic profile of the borough as at the time of the 2011 census 
and the ethnic profile of lettings by bedroom size for 2014/15 and 2015/16.  

 
2.3 The lettings outturn for different ethnic groups showed a similar profile to previous 

periods and there were no significant increases or reduction across groups.  The 
number of households not disclosing their ethnicity remains high.  When implementing 
the new Allocation Policy in October 2012 we also introduced a new housing application 
with an updated ethnic monitoring form which will help us improve the data we capture. 

 
2.4 There are some negative impacts to the proposal to allocate a higher proportion of 

social housing lettings to homeless households than other priority areas, particularly on 
overcrowded households within the social sector and the private rented sector where 
applicants are predominantly from BME origins and applications where the lead 
applicant is female.  

 
2.5 However, this negative impact is balanced by the positive impact that will be seen on 

the same protected groups through the increased lettings made to homeless applicants 
who will then be moved on from temporary accommodation into settled housing.  

 
2.6 The production of a detailed Lettings Plan, targeting a range of priorities in each band 

is a more proactive and focused way of addressing lettings priorities.  It is however, 
administratively intensive and requires ongoing monthly monitoring of performance 
against targets in order to ensure that targets within the plan are reached.  A half year 
review of progress against the lettings plan targets will be undertaken and will be 
reported back to the Housing Select Committee and Mayor & Cabinet thereafter if 
changes to the plan are required.     

 

Page 83



 22 

3 Ethnic Profile of the London Borough of Lewisham – 2011 Census 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ethnicity Total % 

White 147,684 54% 

Mixed 20,468 7% 

Asian or Asian British 25,533 9% 

Black or Black British 74,933 27% 

Other Ethnic Groups 7,251 3% 

Total 275,869   

Page 84



 23 

4  Ethnicity Monitoring of Lettings 2015/16 
 
 

Ethnic Monitoring of Lettings 

Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed Total 

Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % 

African 12 0.9% 50 3.9% 85 6.7% 54 4.3% 11 0.9% 212 16.7% 

Any other Asian background 2 0.2% 8 0.6% 8 0.6% 8 0.6%   0.0% 26 2.1% 

Any other Black/ African/ Caribbean 
background 1 0.1% 15 1.2% 17 1.3% 4 0.3% 2 0.2% 39 3.1% 

Any other ethnic group 3 0.2% 11 0.9% 13 1.0% 10 0.8% 2 0.2% 39 3.1% 

Any other mixed/ multiple ethnic 
background   0.0% 7 0.6% 7 0.6% 2 0.2%   0.0% 16 1.3% 

Any other White background 4 0.3% 26 2.1% 15 1.2% 19 1.5% 2 0.2% 66 5.2% 

Arab   0.0%   0.0% 1 0.1% 1 0.1%   0.0% 2 0.2% 

Bangladeshi   0.0% 2 0.2% 1 0.1% 1 0.1%   0.0% 4 0.3% 

Caribbean 17 1.3% 95 7.5% 77 6.1% 49 3.9% 10 0.8% 248 19.6% 

Chinese 1 0.1% 4 0.3% 8 0.6% 2 0.2%   0.0% 15 1.2% 

English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 15 1.2% 130 10.3% 69 5.4% 23 1.8% 3 0.2% 240 18.9% 

Indian   0.0%   0.0% 3 0.2% 1 0.1%   0.0% 4 0.3% 

Irish   0.0% 2 0.2% 3 0.2%   0.0%   0.0% 5 0.4% 

Not disclosed 13 1.0% 85 6.7% 128 10.1% 72 5.7% 9 0.7% 307 24.2% 

White and Asian   0.0% 1 0.1% 2 0.2%   0.0%   0.0% 3 0.2% 

White and Black African 1 0.1% 2 0.2% 2 0.2% 2 0.2%   0.0% 7 0.6% 

White and Black Caribbean 4 0.3% 13 1.0% 9 0.7% 6 0.5% 2 0.2% 34 2.7% 

Grand Total 73 5.8% 451 35.6% 448 35.4% 254 20.0% 41 3.2% 1267 100.0% 

 

P
age 85



 24 

 5  Ethnicity Monitoring of Lettings 2015/16 – (1st April ‘15 – 30th December’16) 
 
 

Ethnic Monitoring of Lettings 

1 Bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ Bed Studio Total 

Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % Number % 

African 37 6.2% 29 4.9% 33 5.5% 6 1.0% 3 0.5% 108 18.1% 

Any other Asian background 3 0.5% 6 1.0% 7 1.2%   0.0%   0.0% 16 2.7% 

Any other Black/ African/ Caribbean 
background 6 1.0% 3 0.5% 2 0.3% 2 0.3% 1 0.2% 14 2.3% 

Any other ethnic group 6 1.0% 5 0.8% 1 0.2% 2 0.3% 1 0.2% 15 2.5% 

Any other mixed/ multiple ethnic background 5 0.8% 3 0.5% 1 0.2%   0.0% 1 0.2% 10 1.7% 

Any other White background 7 1.2% 9 1.5% 6 1.0% 3 0.5% 3 0.5% 28 4.7% 

Arab   0.0% 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 1 0.2% 

Bangladeshi   0.0% 1 0.2% 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0% 2 0.3% 

Caribbean 45 7.6% 38 6.4% 10 1.7% 10 1.7% 5 0.8% 108 18.1% 

Chinese 6 1.0% 3 0.5% 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0% 10 1.7% 

English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 58 9.7% 26 4.4% 21 3.5% 2 0.3% 6 1.0% 113 19.0% 

Indian   0.0% 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 1 0.2% 

Irish 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 1 0.2% 2 0.3% 

Not disclosed 42 7.0% 60 10.1% 27 4.5% 7 1.2% 5 0.8% 141 23.7% 

Pakistani   0.0% 2 0.3%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 2 0.3% 

White and Asian 1 0.2%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0% 1 0.2% 

White and Black African   0.0% 1 0.2% 5 0.8% 1 0.2%   0.0% 7 1.2% 

White and Black Caribbean 9 1.5% 5 0.8% 1 0.2%   0.0% 2 0.3% 17 2.9% 

Grand Total 226 37.9% 193 32.4% 116 19.5% 33 5.5% 28 4.7% 596 100.0% 

 
 P

age 86



Housing Select Committee 

Title Key Housing issues 

Key decision No Item no 9 

Wards All 

Contributors Executive Director for Customer Services 

Class Part 1 7 March 2017 

 

1 Summary 
 
1.1 Key Housing Issues is a general report that aims to update the Housing Select 

Committee on current and new issues important to housing. 
 

2 The Housing White Paper  
 
2.1 The government published its Housing White Paper on 7 February, saying it “will 

change its focus from starter homes to a wider range of affordable housing.” The 
proposals in the white paper include: 

 

 Proposals to standardise the way local authorities assess future housing 
needs and cutting the time limit for starting development from three to two 
years after planning permission 

 

 Existing funding streams will be used to encourage innovative construction 
techniques and off-site production as part of a push to attract more builders 
into the sector 
 

 Longer-term tenancies of three or more years will be encouraged in the 
private rented sector, particularly in new rented schemes.  
 

2.2 There was no mention in the White Paper of the proposals to introduce Fixed 
Term Tenancies nor was there more detail on the High Value Voids policy. The 
contents of the white paper are subject to consultation which runs until 2 May 
2017. 

 

2.3 In his role as London Councils' executive member for housing, the Mayor said in 
response to the White Paper:  

 

 “The UK has not been building enough homes to properly house its population 
for many years. This negatively impacts the quality of life for everyone, on the 
aspirations of young people in particular and on businesses. 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



“In London alone we now have 50,000 households in temporary accommodation 
and have seen consistent increases- laying bare the full impact of welfare reform 
coupled with a housing supply crisis. 

 

“In recent years, London boroughs have had to make difficult and often 
unpopular decisions to increase the amount of housing supply within the 
constraints of the existing housing and planning system. While the housing crisis 
is particularly keenly felt in the capital, London’s housing shortage cannot be 
solved within London alone, no matter how high or densely we build. Therefore, 
we welcome the White Paper’s boldness in opening up a national debate about 
how and where we can build more houses in the UK. 

 

“We also welcome Government’s commitment to supporting build to 
rent.  London Councils has maintained a one-size-fits-all approach will not work 
– and that we must see a variety of homes, of a range of tenures built to offer 
housing solutions for all Londoners. 

 

“We also would encourage government to build on the positive direction in the 
paper and devolve more powers to councils to allow them to develop.  Simply 
putting pressure on councils to build more is not acceptable, particularly as many 
have clear ambitions to build. Authorities must be given the powers, support and 
resources to realise these ambitions - which means cutting red tape around 
planning regulations and providing adequate funding to support major housing 
projects." 

 

2.4 Responding to the publication of the Government's Housing White Paper, Cllr 
Martin Tett, Housing spokesman at the Local Government Association, said: 

 

"This White Paper includes some encouraging signs that government is listening 
to councils on how to boost housing supply and increase affordability. We are 
pleased it has taken on board a number of recommendations made in our recent 
Housing Commission final report. 

 

"Communities must have faith that the planning system responds to their 
aspirations for their local area, rather than simply being driven by national 
targets. To achieve this, councils must have powers to ensure that new homes 
are affordable and meet their assessments of local need, are attractive and well-
designed, and are supported by the schools, hospitals, roads and other services 
vital for places to succeed. 

 

“All types of homes - including those for affordable and social rent – have to be 
built to solve our housing crisis and flexibility around starter homes is much-
needed recognition of this. It is important that councils have powers to ensure a 
mix of homes are built, alongside the infrastructure to support strong 
communities. 

 

"Our cities, towns and villages are already saying ‘yes' to development as nine 
in 10 planning applications are approved, but increasingly the homes are not 
being built. Giving councils the power to force developers to build homes more 
quickly and to properly fund their planning services are vital for our communities 

Page 88



to prosper. 
 

"Local government believes even more needs to be done to rapidly build more 
genuinely affordable homes to help families struggling to meet housing costs, 
provide homes to rent, reduce homelessness and tackle the housing waiting lists 
many councils have. 

 

"For this to happen, councils desperately need the powers and access to funding 
to resume their historic role as a major builder of affordable homes. This means 
being able to borrow to invest in housing and to keep 100 per cent of the receipts 
from properties sold through Right to Buy to replace homes and reinvest in 
building more of the genuine affordable homes our communities desperately 
need." 

 

2.5 Terrie Alafat CBE, chief executive of the Chartered Institute of Housing, said: 
 

“The package of measures announced today represents an important shift in 
housing policy which demonstrates a commitment to tackle our housing crisis. 

 

“It’s particularly pleasing to see the government recognise the need for a broader 
range of organisations to build new homes, especially the crucial role of local 
authorities in delivering the housing we need – something we’ve consistently 
called for. 

 

“However our concern is that much housing remains out of reach for a significant 
number of people and we would like to see the government back up the package 
of measures announced today with additional funding and resource in the 
budget. 

 

“We also think the government should revisit welfare policies we think undermine 
its commitment to make housing more accessible.” 

3 Response to government consultation on changes to how Supported 
Housing is funded  

 

3.1 The government is planning to change the way Supported Housing is funded. 
This will mean that rent and service charges in supported housing schemes will 
only be funded through Housing Benefit (or Universal Credit) up to the level of 
the applicable Local Housing Allowance rate, as the LHA cap will then apply.  

 

3.2 Under the new model, the government will then devolve funding to local 
authorities to provide a ‘top-up’ where necessary to providers, reflecting the often 
higher costs of offering supported housing. The changes are due to come into 
force in April 2019, with some transitional arrangements starting from April 2018.  

 

3.3 The government ran a consultation on how the new model will operate. 
Lewisham’s response raised concerns about the appropriateness of this model 
for funding Supported Housing. The response made the point that the proposed 
changes could make the system more complex for the most vulnerable in society, 
rather than simplifying the system as is the stated aim of Universal Credit.  

Page 89



3.4 The response said that it is critical that when additional responsibilities are 
devolved to local authorities that they come with adequate resources so that the 
responsibilities are fully-funded long term. In particular, previous experience of 
ring-fenced government funding is that the ring-fence can be removed and the 
funding pot reduced, resulting in services which were once funded by central 
government becoming the responsibility of the local government to fund with 
ever-diminishing resources. 
 

3.5 The response also raised concerns around how the new model would adequately 
assess or meet future need for supported housing, as this has not been 
adequately set out by government. Many proposed new supported housing 
schemes in Lewisham would not be viable if they were funded by rents at or 
below LHA alone, and therefore would require top-up funding. It is therefore vital 
that the new model is able to adequately meet future needs, as well as take into 
account existing unmet demand. 

 

3.6 The consultation response states that if government does proceed with this 
change, that the top-up funding should be devolved directly to local authorities 
and that each individual local authority is best placed to decide how to administer 
the funding in its area, and that Lewisham will continue to allocate funding to 
services on the basis of local need within statutory and non-statutory 
frameworks.  

 

3.7 The Council’s response argues that the government should provide 
administrative funding equivalent to 10% of the overall money received, and that 
this should be provided at least a year before April 2019 to allow a review of all 
services in receipt of current Housing Benefit top-up in order to assess their 
quality and strategic relevance. 

 

3.8 The government has said that it recognises that a different approach may be 
needed for short term accommodation, and the consultation asks for views on 
how emergency and temporary accommodation should funded. Lewisham’s 
response argues that all short term supported accommodation housing 
payments, including the rental element, should be exempted from Universal 
Credit as Universal Credit is not compatible with short-term accommodation. The 
funding should instead be devolved to local authorities to administer either 
through existing housing benefit functions or as part of the commissioning of the 
devolved top up funding 

 

3.9 Once government has considered the responses to the consultation it is 
anticipated that a green paper will be published in the Spring. 

4 New Homes Programme Update 
 

4.1 In March the Council will let the next batch of new Council homes which have 
been developed by Lewisham Homes in Blackheath. These properties are part 
of the scheme formerly known as Dacre South. This handover is comprised of 3 
x 1-bed flats, 3 x 2-bed flats and 1 x 2 bed wheelchair adapted property. These 
properties are now being advertised through Homesearch. 

 

Page 90



4.2 At Housing Select Committee in January 2017, councillors considered a 
comprehensive scheme by scheme update on New Homes Programme to 
deliver 500 new homes for affordable rent by 2018.   A further report on the 
programme will be considered at Mayor and Cabinet on the 22nd of March. This 
report will include an overview of progress and make recommendations to further 
the delivery of new homes.  An updated Programme Summary Sheet is available 
at Appendix 1.  

 

4.3 Housing Select Committee received an update on the 2nd March 2016 on the 
progress made by the Council’s Housing and Autism Group in identifying an 
alternative housing solution for autistic adults in Lewisham.   This group was 
founded as a response to a group called CLASH (Campaign in Lewisham for 
Autistic Spectrum Housing) who had identified unmet housing need in the 
borough.  The Mayor and Cabinet report on 22nd March will set out a possible 
delivery route for a scheme of four flats for people with autism on Stanstead 
Road, Forest Hill. 

 

4.4 At Mayor and Cabinet on the 22nd March there is also expected to be a separate 
report on Brasted Close, Sydenham, which forms part of the new homes 
programme.  Brasted Close is a community-led development project which is 
underway to deliver affordable sale housing using a community land trust model, 
whereby sales values are linked to local incomes rather than the market.  The 
Council has been working with Lewisham Citizens and London Community Land 
Trust to deliver affordable homes for purchase on a garage site at the Brasted 
Close estate, Sydenham.  Current proposals show that 14 new affordable sale 
properties set at local median income could be provided at the site.  The 
projected purchase price of these properties is approximately fifty per cent of the 
local market value for a similar property. Detailed design work and consultation 
is ongoing and a planning submission is anticipated in the next few months.  

 

4.5 Planning permission has been granted for a revised application for the Campshill 
Road Extra Care Scheme. The scheme has been designed to meet all modern 
requirements for high quality living for older residents, and the revisions to the 
scheme will see the mix amended to reflect the new delivery route for the scheme 
which was agreed by Mayor and Cabinet in July 2016.  The Council will shortly 
be entering into a lease with One Housing Group who will build and manage the 
scheme in partnership with the Council. Works are expected to start on site in 
late spring, and take approximately two years. When complete the scheme will 
deliver 53 new homes for older people, including 34 for rent which will be 
nominated to by the Council, and 19 for shared ownership for downsizing older 
homeowners.  

5 PLACE/Ladywell awards  
 

5.1 PLACE/Ladywell has been shortlisted for two further awards in the UK Housing 
Awards: 

 

Page 91



 Outstanding innovation of the year (for providers who own fewer than 
20,000 homes)  

 An outstanding approach to tackling homelessness  
 

5.2 This is an addition to the two awards it won at the New London Architecture 
Awards in 2016, and the two pending awards listed below: 

 

 London Planning Awards: “Best New Homes to Live In” 

 Local Government Chronicle Awards – “Best Housing Initiative” 
 

5.3 The winners of the London Planning Awards will be revealed on 27 February 
2017; the Local Government Chronicle winners will be named on 8 March 2017; 
and UK Housing Awards will be announced on 26 April 2017.  

6 Right to Buy sales 
 

6.1 At its last meeting, Committee asked for information regarding the number of 
Council properties which have been sold under the Right to Buy. The table below 
shows the number of Right to Buy sales since 2011/12. 

 

 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 
Apr – Dec 

2016 

Lewisham 18 17 102 122 116 91 

 

6.2 The significant increase in 2013/14 is because the government increased the 
maximum level of discount from £16,000 to £75,000. This has subsequently been 
further increased to £103,900 in London. 

 

7 Legal Implications 
 
7.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 

8 Financial implications 
 

8.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on current housing issues. As 
such, there are no specific financial implications arising from the report itself. 

 

9 Crime and disorder implications 
 
9.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 
10 Equalities implications 
 
10.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
11 Environmental implications 
 
11.1 There are no environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
12 Background Documents and Report Originator 

Page 92



 
12.1 If you have any queries relating to this report please contact Jeff Endean on 020 

8314 6213.  
 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Scheme Name Ward Council Homes Sale Total Status

Target 
Planning 
Submission

Target 
Planning 
Decision

Target 
Start on 
Site

Target 
Completion

Mercator Road (New Build) Lewisham Central 6 0 6 Complete
Slaithwaite Community Room (conversion) Lewisham Central 1 0 1 Complete
Ashmead Road (disposal) Brockley 0 1 1 Complete
Angus Street (conversion) New Cross 1 0 1 Complete
Forman House (conversion) Telegraph Hill 2 0 2 Complete
Marischal Road (low cost home ownership) Lewisham Central 0 26 26 Complete
Dacre Park South (new build) Blackheath 25 0 25 On-Site Jul-17
Longfield Crescent (new build) Forest Hill 27 0 27 On-Site Aug-17
Hazelhurst Court (extra care) Bellingham 60 0 60 On-Site Jul-17
Wood Vale (new build) Forest Hill 9 8 17 On-Site Jun-17
Honor Oak Housing Office (conversion) Telegraph Hill 5 0 5 On-Site Jun-17
Dacre Park North (new build) Blackheath 0 5 5 On-Site Jul-17
Campshill Road (Extra Care) Lewisham Central 34 25 59 Planning consented, awaiting start May-17 Nov-18
Forster House Whitefoot 22 0 22 Planning consented, awaiting start Apr-17 Aug-18
Woodbank Whitefoot 4 0 4 Planning consented, awaiting start Jun-17 Jun-18
Rawlinson House (conversion) Lewisham Central 1 0 1 Planning submitted, awaiting decision Mar-17 Jun-17 Nov-17
Hawke Tower (conversion) New Cross 1 0 1 Planning submitted, awaiting decision Mar-17 Jun-17 Nov-17
Pepys Housing Office (conversion) Evelyn 5 0 5 Approved final scheme, awaiting planning application Feb-17 May-17 Jun-17 Oct-17
Kenton Court (new build) Bellingham 26 0 26 Approved final scheme, awaiting planning application Mar-17 Jun-17 Oct-17 Dec-18
Silverdale Hall (new build) [community centre]Sydenham 10 0 10 Approved final scheme, awaiting planning application Mar-17 Jun-17 Oct-17 Dec-18
Grace Path (new build) Sydenham 0 6 6 Approved final scheme, awaiting planning application Mar-17 Jun-17 Oct-17 Dec-18
Church Grove Self-Build Lewisham Central 5 26 31 Approved final scheme, awaiting planning application Mar-17 Jun-17 Jan-18 Jan-21
Forest Estate Forest Hill 20 0 20 Design development and resident consultation Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Mar-19
Milton Court Road (new build) New Cross 11 0 11 Design development and resident consultation Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Oct-19
High Level Drive Sydenham 26 0 26 Design development and resident consultation Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Mar-19
Bampton Estate Site 4 (new build) Perry Vale 60 0 60 Design development and resident consultation Jul-17 Jul-17 Jan-18 Sep-19
Somerville Estate (new build) [community centre]Telegraph Hill 40 0 40 Design development and resident consultation Jul-17 Oct-17 Jan-18 Apr-19
Crofton Park (new build) Crofton Park 2 0 2 Design development and resident consultation Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Mar-19
Marnock Road (new build) Crofton Park 6 0 6 Design development and resident consultation Mar-17 Jun-17 Nov-17 Mar-19
Embleton Road sites Ladywell 5 3 8 Design development and resident consultation Jun-17 Sep-17 Jan-18 Jul-19
Allison Close (New Build) Blackheath 0 6 6 Design development and resident consultation Jul-17 Sep-17 Jan-18 Jan-19
Endwell Road (new build) Telegraph Hill 11 0 11 Design development and resident consultation May-17 Aug-17 Nov-17 Mar-19
Mayfield Hostel Lee Green 70 0 70 Early Design Stage Aug-17 Nov-17 Jan-18 Jul-18
Home Park Office Bellingham 16 0 16 Early Design Stage Aug-17 Nov-17 Jan-18 Jul-18

511 106 617

Scheme Name Ward Council Homes Sale Total Status

Stansted Road Forest Hill 5 0 5 Early Design Stage Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Nov-18
Brasted Close Sydenham 0 15 15 Early Design Stage Apr-17 Jul-17 Nov-17 Apr-19

5 15 20
516 121 637

Current Approved Programme

Total

Future Potential Programme

Total
Grand Total (Current Approved + Future Potential Programme)

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Housing Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 10 

Class Part 1 (open) 7 March 2017 

 

1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To provide Members of the Select Committee with an overview of the work 

programme for 2016-17 and to propose a draft work programme for 2017-18. 
 

2. Summary 
 
2.1 At the beginning of the municipal year each select committee is required to draw up 

a work programme for submission to the Overview and Scrutiny Business Panel. 
The Panel considers the suggested work programmes and coordinates activities 
between select committees in order to maximise the use of scrutiny resources and 
avoid duplication. 

 

2.2 The meeting on 7 March 2017 is the last scheduled meeting of the Housing Select 
Committee in the 2016-17 municipal year. This Committee’s completed work 
programme is attached at appendix B. The Committee is being asked to put forward 
suggestions for the 2017-18 work programme. 

 

3. Recommendations 
 

3.1 The Select Committee is asked to: 
 

 Consider the prioritisation process and priorities themes for the 2017/18 work 
programme 

 Note the completed work programme attached at appendix B 

 Review the issues covered in 2016-17 municipal year 

 Take note of the notice of key decisions attached at appendix C 

 Consider any matters arising that it may wish to suggest for future scrutiny, 
including topics for in-depth review  

 Note the draft work programme for 2017-18 attached at appendix D 
 

4. Housing Select Committee 2016-2017  
 

4.1 The Housing Select Committee had eight meetings in the 2016-17 year: 
 

 12 April 2016  

 25 May 2016  

 6 July 2016  

 7 September 2016  

 25 October 2016  

 16 November 2016 

 10 January 2017 

 7 March 2017 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



4.2 Along with all other select committees, in 2016-17 the Housing Select Committee 
has devoted considerable attention to reviewing savings proposals put forward as 
part of the Lewisham Future Programme. 

 
5. Prioritising and planning for 2017-18 
 
5.1 Eight meetings will be scheduled for 2017-18 municipal year. The Committee is 

asked to consider a draft work programme report for 2017-18 for members to 
review, revise and agree (see appendix D). The draft work programme takes 
account of the Committee’s previous work and incorporates:  

 

 the scrutiny prioritisation process and potential key themes and priorities for 
2017-18 

 issues arising as a result of previous scrutiny; 

 issues that the Committee is required to consider by virtue of its terms of 
reference; 

 items requiring follow up from Committee reviews and recommendations; 

 issues suggested by members of the public; 

 petitions; 

 standard reviews of policy implementation or performance, which is based on a 
regular schedule; 

 suggestions from officers; 

 decisions due to be made by Mayor and Cabinet. 
 

Council finances 
 
5.2 The Council has already made savings of £138.4m to meet its revenue budget 

requirements since May 2010 and is proposing further savings of £23.2m in 
2017/18. It is expected that the Council will need to identify further savings of circa 
£32.6m for the following two years, 2018/19 to 2019/20. This will bring the total 
savings in cash terms made by the Council in the decade to 2020 to just short of 
£200m. Monitoring the impact of savings on service delivery and performance will 
continue to be of importance to scrutiny committees. Lessons learnt from this 
process can be used to help shape the scrutiny of future savings proposals as and 
when they are put forward.   
 

5.3 Budgetary issues of particular relevance to the work of the Committee 
 

 In March 2016 the Government legislated for a 1% reduction in social rents to be 
applied for four years from 2016/17. This is expected to reduce rental income by 
£2.62m in 2017/18. The expected cumulative rent reduction over the four years is 
£25.0m, with £374.0m being lost over the life of the 30 year business plan. It’s not 
yet clear what rent regime will be in place after the four years – it’s assumed that 
rent charges will be increased in line with prior Government guidance of CPI + 1%. 

 

 The budgeted expenditure for the Housing Revenue Account for 2017/18 is 
£149.9m (£93.9m operational and £56m capital and new build costs). No direct 
savings have been identified so far for 2017/18.  

 

 The HRA is budgeted to spend over £100.0m in 2016/17. The Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) is currently projecting a surplus of £1.1m, but this will be reinvested 
to maintain a balanced budget position. 

Page 98



 
 As at the end of November 2016, the forecast overspend for the Customer Services 

directorate as a whole is £3.3m. The strategic housing service is projecting an 
overspend of £0.7m. This relates to the action taken to manage the demand for 
temporary accommodation in the borough. 

 
Broader issues of particular relevance to the work of the Committee  

 
5.2 From discussion with officers and the Chair, and from reviewing the items looked at 

over the course of the 2016-17 work programme, there are a number of issues that 
the committee may wish to consider for scrutiny over 2017-18: 

 

 Housing zones 
Housing zones are intended to boost housing supply in London by unlocking and 
accelerating housing delivery through a range of planning and financial measures. 
The GLA expects around 35% of housing in housing zones to be affordable. There 
are two housing zones in Lewisham: Catford Town Centre and New Bermondsey. 
The Housing Zone designation for the Catford Programme was approved by 
Mayor & Cabinet in September. Officers can now enter into agreements with the 
GLA for a grant of £30m to support affordable housing. An independent review of 
matters relating to the New Bermondsey housing zone process is expected in 2017. 
Updates on significant developments with both housing zones, particularly those 
relating to affordable housing, can be provided by officers.   
 

 Homelessness and temporary accommodation pressures 
While the number of Lewisham residents in temporary accommodation has 
stabilised in recent years, as a result of a number of steps taken by the council, 
homelessness remains a significant issue in the borough. There are around 1,800 
households in temporary accommodation in Lewisham, around 400 of which are 
living outside of the borough. There are around 500 Lewisham residents living in 
nightly-paid accommodation. There has also been a 45% increase in the last two 
years of the number of applicants whose reason for homelessness is eviction from 
the private rented sector.  
 

 Homeless Reduction Bill 
Related the issues outline above is the Homeless Reduction Bill, currently making 
its way through Parliament. In short, the proposed legislation would require councils 
to do more to prevent homelessness including, among other things, providing more 
proactive advice and support to single people who are homeless. In Lewisham, it is 
expected that this could lead to an increased caseload of 2,200. The Government 
has said that additional funding of £48m will be made available. The LGA has said 
that the true costs of the legislation are difficult to predict. For more information see: 
House of Commons Library, Homelessness Reduction Bill 2016-17, October 2016. 
 

 Supported housing 
There are a number of supported housing schemes in Lewisham, designed to help 
vulnerable people live more independently. From April 2019, the government is 
intending to introduce a new funding model for supported housing. In short, this will 
mean that people living in supported housing will only be able to claim housing 
benefit up to the Local Housing Allowance rate. The government is also planning to 
devolve funding to local authorities in England to provide, where necessary, a ‘top-
up’ to providers to reflect the higher costs of supported housing. A Green Paper on 

Page 99

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7736


the detailed arrangements is expected in the spring. For more information see: 
House of Commons Library, Paying for supported housing, December 2016. 
  

 Housing quality, suitability and affordability 
Given the significant housing development ongoing in Lewisham, including the two 
housing zones mentioned above, the committee may wish to review local evidence 
and best practice in this area. This could include the quality and suitability of recent 
housing developments in Lewisham and the impact that variations in this have on 
people and their quality of life. This could provide the committee with a good 
working knowledge of a complex and technical topic as key housing-related 
proposals come forward in the next municipal year. 

 
  

Housing Select Committee terms of reference 
 
5.3 The Council’s constitution sets out the Committee’s powers, as defined by the terms 

of reference. These are included at appendix A. The Committee should familiarise 
itself with the terms of reference and consider its remit when selecting items for 
scrutiny.  

 
5.4 As set out in the constitution, the Committee has a responsibility for scrutinising the 

Council’s strategic housing functions as well as the work of Lewisham Homes and 
the Brockley Private Finance Initiative (PFI). The strategic housing division is 
responsible for delivering housing objectives based on the borough’s sustainable 
communities strategy and delivered through the borough’s housing strategy. 

 
5.6 The Council is responsible for a stock of approximately 18,000 homes. These are 

managed by the Council’s Arm’s Length Management Organisation, Lewisham 
Homes and the Brockley Private Finance Initiative. In previous years, the 
Committee has scrutinised the Lewisham Homes and Brockley PFI annual reports 
and business plans. Members of the Committee have also resolved to receive six 
monthly updates from these organisations. The Committee’s terms of reference 
also give it the remit to establish links with social housing providers in the borough. 

 
6. Financial implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report.  
 

7. Legal implications 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
8. Equalities implications 
 
8.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 

Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 

Page 100

http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06080


disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

8.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
8.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 
 
Background documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 
 

Page 101



  

Page 102



 
Appendix A 
 
Housing Select Committee terms of reference 
 
To fulfil all overview and scrutiny functions in relation to the discharge by 
the authority of its housing functions. This shall include the power to: 
 
(a) review and scrutinise decisions made or other action taken in 
connection with the discharge of the Council of its housing function 
 
(b) make reports or recommendations to the authority and/or Mayor 
and Cabinet with respect to the discharge of these functions 
 
(c) make recommendations to the authority and/or Mayor and Cabinet 
proposals for housing policy 
 
(d) to review initiatives put in place by the Council with a view to 
achieving the Decent Homes standard, making recommendations 
and/or report thereon to the Council and/or Mayor and Cabinet 
 
(e) To establish links with housing providers in the borough which are 
concerned with the provision of social housing 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 SCS 1 1 CP 1

2 SCS 2 2 CP 2

3 SCS 3 3 CP 3

4 SCS 4 4 CP 4

5 SCS 5 5 CP 5

6 SCS 6 6 CP 6

7 CP 7

8 CP 8

9 CP 9

10 CP 10

Shaping Our Future: Lewisham's Sustainable 

Community Strategy 2008-2020

Caring for adults and older people

Clean, green and liveable

Priority

Ambitious and achieving 

Empowered and responsible

Healthy, active and enjoyable

Safer

Dynamic and prosperous

Priority

Active, healthy citizens

Inspiring efficiency, effectiveness and 

equity 

Corporate Priorities

Safety, security and a visible presence 

Strengthening the local economy

Decent homes for all

Protection of children

Community Leadership
Young people's achievement and 

involvement

Clean, green and liveable

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan February 2017 - May 2017 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent to Kevin Flaherty, the Local Democracy Officer, at the Council 
Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

November 2016 
 

Budget Update 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

September 2016 
 

Ashmead Primary School 
expansion and Addey & 
Stanhope School expansion 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 

 
  

 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 107



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

results of consultations 
 

Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

December 2016 
 

Council Tax Base Second 
Homes Discount and Income 
Review 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Discretionary Rate Relief 
Review 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Governing Bodies 
Reconstitution Rathfern 
Primary School 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

September 2016 
 

Lewisham Music Business 
Plan and Transfer Terms 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2016 New Bermondsey Housing 11/01/17 Janet Senior, Executive   

P
age 108



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Zone Bid Update 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

  

April 2016 
 

New Homes Programme 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Regionalising Adoption 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

School Health Service - Award 
Report 
 

11/01/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

May 2016 
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2017-18 
 

18/01/17 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Council Tax Base Second 
Homes Discount and Income 

18/01/17 
Council 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 P
age 109



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Review 
 

 Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

January 2017 
 

Mayoral Response Broadway 
Theatre 
 

18/01/17 
Council 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Transforming Construction 
Skills - Lewisham Construction 
Hub, Training, Apprenticeship 
and Employment Service 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Transforming Construction 
Skills - Lewisham Construction 
Hub, Local Supply Chain 
Development Services 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Contract Award Provision of 
School Kitchen Condition 
Surveys 
 

31/01/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Education 
Business Panel 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Animal Welfare Charter 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 

 
  

 

P
age 110



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

December 2016 
 

Caretaker properties Disposal 
and Lease Award 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Determination of Admission 
Arrangements 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Approval to Transfer Our Lady 
& St Philip Neri Primary School 
to Catholic Archdiocese of 
Southwark 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Results of Handypersons 
consultation 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

IT Strategy 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 

P
age 111



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

December 2016 
 

Library Savings Programme 
update - Manor House 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Pay Statement 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Phil Badley and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

2017/18 Budget 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Waste & Recycling Services 
Update 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Agreement to consult on 
changes to  Targeted Short 
Breaks Offer for children and 
young people with complex 
needs 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 

 
  

 

P
age 112



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

People 
 

August 2016 
 

The Wharves Deptford - 
Compulsory Purchase Order 
Resolution 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Community Equipment 
Contract Award under London 
Consortium Framework 
Agreement 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 
Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Health Visiting and Children's 
Centres - Award Report 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Award of Contract for 
Specialist Short Breaks 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Stage 1 of  2-stage 
procurement for the proposed 
expansions of Ashmead 
Primary School and Addey & 
Stanhope Secondary School 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 

 
  

 

P
age 113



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

(Mornington Centre) and to 
enter into a Pre-Construction 
Services Agreement. 
 

Children and Young 
People 
 

November 2016 
 

Young Person's Health and 
Wellbeing Service Award 
Report 
 

08/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Budget Update 
 

15/02/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Award of contract for Sexual 
Health clinics 
 

21/02/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

May 2016 
 

Council Budget 2017-18 
 

22/02/17 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

 
  

 

November 2016 
 

Pay Statement 
 

22/02/17 
Council 

Phil Badley and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 P
age 114



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Cabinet Member 
Resources 
 

November 2016 
 

Opting in to the Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA) framework 
 

22/02/17 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Brasted Close development 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

New Homes Programme 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Homes Management 
Agreement and Articles of 
Association 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Proposed  Heathside and 
Lethbridge Estate, Lewisham - 
Phase 6 Compulsory Purchase 
Order 2017 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Damien Egan, 
Cabinet Member Housing 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Construction Hub 
Contracts 
 

01/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 

 
  

 

P
age 115



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

December 2016 
 

Statutory Funerals Contract 
 

14/03/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Rachel 
Onikosi, Cabinet Member 
Public Realm 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Award of contract for Sexual 
Health e-service 
 

14/03/17 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health, Wellbeing and 
Older People 
 

 
  

 

December 2016 
 

Lewisham Place Planning 
Strategy 2017-2022 
 

22/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Paul Maslin, 
Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young 
People 
 

 
  

 

January 2017 
 

Catford Regeneration 
Programme Parts 1 and 2 
 

22/03/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and 
Councillor Alan Smith, 
Deputy Mayor 
 

 
  

 

August 2016 
 

Community Premises 
Management Contract Award 
 

19/04/17 
Mayor and Cabinet 
(Contracts) 
 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 
Community Services and 
Councillor Joan Millbank, 

 
  

 

P
age 116



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Cabinet Member Third 
Sector & Community 
 

P
age 117



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 118



Work item Type of item Priority
Strategic 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
18-Apr 06-Jun 13-Jul 07-Sep 08-Nov 14-Dec 30-Jan 14-Mar

Lewisham Future Programme Standard item High CP6 Ongoing Savings

Key Housing Issues Standard item Low CP6 Ongoing

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair
Constitutional 

req
N/A CP6 Apr

Committee work programme 2016/17 
Constitutional 

req
High CP6 Apr

Lewisham's Housing Strategy (2015-

2020) - monitoring

Policy 

development
Medium CP6 Jun

In-depth review
Policy 

development
High CP6 Jun Scoping Evidence Evidence Report

New Homes Programme
Performance 

monitoring
High CP6 Jul

Lewisham Homes 
Performance 

monitoring
Medium CP6 Sep

Annual report & 

business plan

Brockley PFI 
Performance 

monitoring
Medium CP6 Sep

Annual report & 

business plan

Housing zones
Policy 

development
Medium CP6 Oct

Supported housing
Policy 

development
Medium CP6 Oct

Monitoring homelessness and 

temporary accommodation pressures

Policy 

development
High CP6 Dec

Housing and mental health review 

update
In-depth review Medium CP6 Dec Update

Proposed rent and service charge 

increases
Standard item High CP6 Jan

Annual lettings plan Standard item High CP6 Mar

Item completed

Item ongoing 1) Tuesday 18 April 5) Wednesday 8 Nov

Item outstanding 2) Tuesday 6 June 6) Thursday 14 Dec

Proposed timeframe 3) Thursday 13 Jul 7) Tuesday 30 Jan

Item added 4) Thursday 7 Sep 8) Wednesday 14 Mar

Housing Select Committee work programme 2017/18 Programme of work

Meeting Dates:

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Housing and mental health review - draft final report
	04 Housing review - final draft - 070317

	5 Handyperson service update
	7 Discretionary licensing scheme
	8 Annual lettings plan
	9 Key housing issues
	09 Appendix 1 New Homes Programme - 070317

	10 Select Committee work programme
	10 Appendix B Select Committee Work Programmes 2016-7
	10 Appendix C Key Decision Plan February 2017 - 010327
	10 Appendix D draft work programme 2017-18


